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To succeed and excel at work and in life require more than 
academic qualifications.

INSIDE UniSIM is the promise of a unique learning experience 
founded on our vision of empowering individuals to reach their full 
potential through lifelong learning. Our distinct education combines 
the rigours of academic study and relevant applied practice, offering 
learners a better future through holistic development, while inspiring 
them to make a positive difference to society. An education that 
takes our students beyond mere academic qualifications.

We are committed to bring aspirations to life, groom the leaders of 
tomorrow, and open doors to opportunities to impact the world.

Step INSIDE UniSIM and let your perspectives be transformed.

INSIDE
UniSIM
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Corporate Profile
Established in 2005, SIM University (UniSIM) is Singapore’s only private 
university.  Home to over 13,000 undergraduate and graduate students, UniSIM 
offers more than 50 academic programmes, available in full- and part-time 
study modes, in various disciplines through four schools: School of Arts and 
Social Sciences, School of Business, School of Human Development and Social 
Services, and School of Science and Technology.
 
UniSIM adopts a flexible learning approach and has in place technology-driven 
learning resources that enable students to learn anytime, anywhere and at  
their own pace.  UniSIM offers a practice-oriented education taught by 
academics and industry practitioners, ensuring that what is learnt today can 
be applied tomorrow.
 
Eligible students taking UniSIM’s undergraduate programmes enjoy government 
subsidies and access to government bursaries, and tuition fee/study loans.
 
UniSIM is a not-for-profit university and the SIM University Education Fund is a 
Singapore ‘Institution of a Public Character’ (IPC).

Key Facts and Figures

2,254
Graduates

* Excludes Diploma, Beijing Normal University 
and Nanjing University graduates

Financial Highlights

Course Fees and Other Income
Operating Expenses
Capability-building Expenditure
Net Surplus
Tax-deductible Donations Received

96,238
68,308
16,887
11,041
17,114

88,661
65,101
15,407

8,153
17,323

General Fund Reserve Level  (1)

SIM University Education Fund Reserve Level  (1)
1.2 years
4.9 years

* Year ended December 31

(1)  Computed based on the formula: (bank balances + current available for sales investment + current held-to-maturity
investments) / (total annual expenditure including capital expenditure). UniSIM will target a reserve level of one year for both 
the General Fund and Education Fund taking into consideration its future income streams and future operating and capital 
expenditure. The actual reserve level for the Education Fund will decrease on completion of Phase 2 of the Campus 
Development Master Plan.

1.3 years
4.7 years

Vision
Empowering society 
through lifelong education, 
remaining responsive 
to diverse learning 
needs and aspirations

Mission
To create excellence in 
lifelong education through a  
uniquely-designed learning 
experience, equipping 
learners for a better future

Core Values
Spirit of learning
Passion for excellence
Integrity in all we do
Respect and trust for the individual
Innovation to lead
Teamwork for success

30
Average Age of Students

54
Academic Programmes

* Excludes Diploma, Beijing Normal University 
 and Nanjing University programmes

93
Full-time Faculty

828

22,160
Alumni

225

13,369
Student Enrolment

* Excludes Diploma, Beijing Normal University 
and Nanjing University students

Non-academic Staff

Associate Faculty
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Broadening Our Horizons

In this regard, 2013 was a significant year 
for UniSIM.

Two key developments stood out: the 
Government’s announcement that UniSIM 
will offer publicly-funded full-time 
undergraduate programmes from 2014, 
starting with Accountancy, Finance and 
Marketing, and the Government’s selection 
of UniSIM to host Singapore’s third law 
school. Both these developments will help 
meet the growing demand for university 
places and support Singapore’s economic 
and social development.

The establishment of the full-time 
programmes and law school is significant 
for UniSIM on two levels. The first is the 
confidence placed in UniSIM. It is very 
heartening to note that our solid track record 
and quality of education for working adults 
have earned broad industry recognition. This 
further augments our reputation amongst 
students, faculty, industry and the public, 
enhances the value of a UniSIM degree and 
opens up considerable opportunities for our 
graduates.

The second is the prospects that the new 
full-time programmes add to UniSIM’s 
current offerings of part-time graduate, 
undergraduate, and Continuing Education 
and Training programmes. It is invigorating to 
think about the broadened scope of UniSIM's 
contribution to our economy and society 
as we make available more educational 
pathways for individuals to pursue lifelong 
learning and reach their full potential.

Message from the  
Chancellor and Chairman

Professor Cham Tao Soon
Chancellor and Chairman 
SIM University

When UniSIM was founded in 2005, we had 
set our sights on charting a path of growth 
and development that would set UniSIM 
apart from other tertiary institutions. Since 
then, we have achieved many significant 
milestones and successes, key amongst which 
is the establishment of a strong foundation 
and a distinct reputation.

Today, UniSIM is well-known and well-
regarded for its unique brand of education 
that is built around the students and their 
specific areas of interest. The distinguishing 
characteristic of a UniSIM education 
continues to be our quality programmes that 
are holistic and industry-relevant.

UniSIM’s distinctive model of flexible 
learning and instruction is particularly 
valued by our students who are mostly 
working adults with a need to balance 
their pursuit of professional qualifications 
with the demands of work, home and 
community. Our collaboration with partners 
to develop well-rounded and practice-
oriented programmes equips our students 
with core industry knowledge and practical 
experience that can be applied effectively 
to benefit their organisations and careers.

Whilst we are proud of what UniSIM has 
achieved, we are not resting on our laurels. 
Against the backdrop of a fast-changing 
knowledge economy, we are constantly 
looking at what UniSIM needs to do in order 
to anticipate the needs of our students 
and society. We continuously explore new 
opportunities and innovation that will fuel 
UniSIM’s future growth.
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Professor Cham Tao Soon 
Chancellor and Chairman 
SIM University

2013 was a significant year for UniSIM, 
with the Government’s announcement that 
UniSIM will offer publicly-funded full-time 
undergraduate programmes from 2014, 
starting with Accountancy, Finance and 
Marketing, and the Government’s selection of 
UniSIM to host Singapore’s third law school. 
It is invigorating to think about the broadened 
scope of UniSIM's contribution to our economy 
and society as we make available more 
educational pathways for individuals to pursue 
lifelong learning and reach their full potential.

Going forward, the goal and challenge before 
us is to ensure that UniSIM is always more 
than the sum of our parts. Working as one 
university, we plan to extend the same 
high standards that we have established in 
our part-time programmes to our full-time 
programmes. We are stepping up training 
efforts to develop our faculty members, 
not only as a means of supporting the new 
programmes, but with a view to empowering 
them to build up hubs of expertise and 
excellence within UniSIM in their respective 
fields. We will also ride on our proven formula 
of building and leveraging strong industry 
and academic partnerships to strengthen and 
differentiate all our programmes to benefit 
our students.

UniSIM will see a greater diversity of 
students as our current student population 
of mostly adult learners is joined by fresh 
school leavers who enrol in our full-time 
programmes. Our goal is not only to guide 
each student's path of learning but also to 
create opportunities to facilitate mutually 
beneficial interactions between the two 
groups of students to enhance their 
experiential learning and growth.

These are the first of many steps, which 
include the expansion of our physical 
infrastructure to accommodate a larger 
student population and enhancement of 
UniSIM's comprehensive campus-wide 
e-learning project, to further boost our 
students' ability to engage in lifelong learning. 
UniSIM's structured approach to integrate 
e-learning into every class, course and 
programme - leveraging specific tools and 
content development standards - makes 
us fundamentally different from the other 
Singapore universities.

Committing To Excellence

In many ways, we are charting into new 
territory for UniSIM.  I am confident that 
the experience and determination of our 
management and faculty teams will lead 
UniSIM forward successfully as we take on 
the new challenges. My team and I remain 
committed to do all we can to ensure that 
the UniSIM education remains unparalleled in 
meeting our students’ lifelong learning needs 
and aspirations.

I wish to express my appreciation to our 
Patron, His Excellency President Tony Tan 
Keng Yam and the Board of Trustees for 
their continued guidance and support. I am 
also grateful to our management, faculty 
and staff for their dedication, commitment 
and support.
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For the past eight years, UniSIM has been 
providing adult learners with a quality 
tertiary education that is designed to help 
them realise their full potential. We have 
established our reputation as a trusted 
partner and institution of choice for lifelong 
education amongst working adults in 
Singapore through careful planning and 
execution of strategic initiatives in line with 
our vision. We have built a solid platform 
for the UniSIM education by anchoring 
our programmes on rigorous academic 
study requirements, coupled with industry 
practice relevance. We continue to receive 
strong endorsement from the government 
and industry for the value we provide and 
the role we play in tertiary education to 
serve the needs of individuals, businesses, 
economy and society. Our focus, commitment 
and efforts have enabled UniSIM to grow 
significantly in size, scope and strength.

2013 was a fulfilling year as we continued 
to realise our strategic plans and meet 
industry expectations. During the year, we 
focused on strengthening our foundation, 
core competencies, operational systems and 
processes, as well as expanding the scope of 
our education approach, to set the course for 
UniSIM’s further growth.
 
Strengthening Our Foundation

A highlight during the year was the 
announcement that UniSIM would begin 
offering full-time undergraduate programmes 
in Accountancy, Finance and Marketing in 
2014. Towards this end, we worked closely 
with the Ministry of Education to lay the 
groundwork, focusing on the critical aspects 
of curricula and programme development, as 
well as manpower and staffing.

Whilst the full-time programme drew its 
share of attention, we also maintained 
our momentum in enhancing our 50-plus 
part-time programmes. In 2013, with our 
student enrolment standing at over 13,000, 
we increased the breadth and depth of our 
part-time programmes to ensure that they 
provided the scope, knowledge and skills 
required by our students and industry. We 
introduced two graduate degree programmes 
– Master of Engineering and Doctor of 
Philosophy – as well as a wide spectrum of 
electives and minor options, such as Security 
Studies and Multimedia Production, to equip 
students and to support emerging industries.

We ensured that our expanding stable of 
offerings continued to meet the highest 
industry standards. In 2013, our Bachelor 
of Engineering in Electronics and Bachelor 
of Building and Project Management 
programmes were accredited by the 
Engineering Accreditation Board of the 
Institution of Engineers Singapore, and the 
Singapore Institute of Surveyors and Valuers, 
respectively. Our Bachelor of Accountancy 
graduates were granted exemption by 
the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants while our Bachelor of Science in 
Finance programme was endorsed by the 
CFA Institute.

In the area of Continuing Education and 
Training, we worked with industry partners 
to jointly develop a host of industry-specific 
programmes to meet the demand for more 
specialised professional development. 
Courses in the pipeline are spread over areas 
of growing importance and interest in society, 
such as community and social service, early 
childhood education and business analytics. Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

President 
SIM University

Message from the 
President
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Professor Cheong Hee Kiat 
President 
SIM University

Through our wide choice of programmes, 
whether qualification-based or 
knowledge-acquisition “on-the-go” 
and “on-the-job”, we address industry 
manpower needs, amplifying our “learn 
today, apply tomorrow” philosophy.

Expanding Our Scope 

Throughout 2013, we continued to tap on the 
expertise and experience of academic and 
industry partners, such as Ang Mo Kio Family 
Service Centres, Cranfield University, Ministry 
of Defence and Thomson Reuters, to establish 
joint initiatives that enrich our students’ 
holistic education.

To continue expanding UniSIM’s research 
capabilities, we took on several new industry 
research projects, working with partners 
such as Early Childhood Development Agency 
and Singapore Prison Service. Through these, 
we enable our students and faculty to gain 
valuable experience dealing with important 
research methodologies, and major societal 
and industry issues.

Another distinguishing quality of the UniSIM 
education is the flexible modes of learning 
that we offer to enable self-directed learning 
and enhance work-life balance. We continued 
to accelerate the roll-out of our e-learning 
initiative during 2013 to drive improved 
accessibility of our programmes to our adult 
student population. We launched new tools 
to enhance the e-learning experience for 
students and faculty. Our intensive efforts 
in e-learning content development saw us 
deliver 15% of our courses as e-courses by 
end-2013. Based on our current progress, we 
are well on track to offer 50% of our courses 
as e-courses by 2015.

Complementing these was a ramp up in 
training and development for our faculty to 
hone their skills for effective online instruction, 
while students attended hands-on workshops 
to familiarise themselves with the new 
e-learning applications.  We are committed 
to working collaboratively with academe, 
industry and government to groom new 
generations of leaders who are knowledgeable, 
professionally competent, self-directed 

We are committed to working collaboratively 
with academe, industry and government to 
groom new generations of leaders who are 
knowledgeable, professionally competent,  
self-directed and socially-minded, to be a 
positive influence in our community and society. 
Together, these initiatives enable UniSIM to 
take the lead in offering a flexible and holistic 
approach to lifelong learning and education 
that will contribute towards the general 
well-being of society and the building up of 
Singapore as a sustainable vibrant economy.

and socially-minded, to be a positive 
influence in our community and society.

Together, these initiatives enable UniSIM to 
take the lead in offering a flexible and holistic 
approach to lifelong learning and education 
that will contribute towards the general 
well-being of society and the building up of 
Singapore as a sustainable vibrant economy.

Expressing Appreciation

The strong foundation, strengths and core 
competencies that we have established in 
UniSIM have given the University a distinctive 
place and role in Singapore's tertiary 
education sector. We are poised and ready 
to contribute more. 

All that we have achieved comes through the 
trust of our stakeholders in what we do, the 
support of our government and partners, and 
most important of all, the people in UniSIM 
who believe in our vision.  I wish to take this 
opportunity to thank our Board of Trustees, 
students, alumni, partners, faculty and 
colleagues for their dedication and support 
over the past year. I look forward to their 
continued involvement and support to spur 
UniSIM on in the years ahead.
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Board of Trustees

 ADJUNCT PROFESSOR   
SEAH MOON MING

Executive Director and 
Group Chief Executive Officer 

Pavilion Energy Pte Ltd

BIODATA

MR RONNIE TAY
Chief Executive Officer 

National Environment Agency

PROFESSOR   
LEO TAN WEE HIN

Director (Special Projects)  
Faculty of Science   

National University of Singapore

PROFESSOR   
CHONG CHI TAT

University Professor     
Department of Mathematics 

National University of Singapore

PROFESSOR   
CHAM TAO SOON

Chairman 
SIM University Board of Trustees

Chancellor 
SIM University

Special Advisor to SIM Group

President Emeritus 
Nanyang Technological University

MR RICHARD Y M EU
Group Chief Executive Officer 

Eu Yan Sang International Ltd

MR ONG BOON HWEE
Managing Director 

Beyond Horizon Consulting Pte Ltd

PROFESSOR   
BERNARD TAN

Professor of Physics 
National University of Singapore

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA
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Board of Trustees

FINANCE COMMITTEE

Professor Bernard Tan
(Chairman)
Mr Ronnie Tay
Adjunct Professor
Seah Moon Ming
Mr Wong Hong Kuan
(until 31 August 2013)
Mr Ong Boon Hwee
(from 11 September 2013)
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Ramasamy Dhinakaran 
(Chairman)
Professor Leo Tan Wee Hin
Mr William Lim

ESTABLISHMENT COMMITTEE

Professor Cham Tao Soon
(Chairman)
Mr Ong Boon Hwee
Professor Leo Tan Wee Hin
Mr Ronald Tan Hee Huan
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Professor Cham Tao Soon
(Chairman)
Adjunct Professor
Seah Moon Ming
Mr Ong Boon Hwee

MR WILLIAM LIM
Deputy Director    

Higher Education Division   
Ministry of Education

MR WONG HONG KUAN   
(until 31 August 2013)

Director 
Corrupt Practices Investigation Bureau

MR NG CHER PONG  
(from 1 November 2013)

Chief Executive 
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

MR RONALD TAN HEE HUAN
Executive Director 

Singapore Institute of Management

 ADJUNCT PROFESSOR   
LEE KWOK CHEONG

Chief Executive Officer 
Singapore Institute of Management Pte Ltd

PROFESSOR   
CHEONG HEE KIAT

Ex-Officio     
SIM University Board of Trustees 

President     
SIM University

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR   
YIP WOON KWONG

Secretary 
SIM University Board of Trustees

Registrar 
SIM University

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA

BIODATA
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Key Academic Members

PROFESSOR    
CHEONG HEE KIAT

President

PROFESSOR    
TSUI KAI CHONG

Provost

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR   
YIP WOON KWONG

Registrar

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR   
WONG YUE KEE

Vice President 
Learning Services

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR   
GENICE NGG

Dean 
School of Arts and Social Sciences

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR    
LEE PUI MUN

Dean 
School of Business

PROFESSOR    
TAN NGOH TIONG

Dean 
School of Human Development    

and Social Services

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR   
PHILIP CHEANG

Dean 
School of Science and Technology

PROFESSOR    
KOH HIAN CHYE

Assistant Provost     
(from 1 August 2013)

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR   
CHEAH HORN MUN

Assistant Provost   
(from 20 January 2014)
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Milestones

January

▸ Collaborated with the Singapore  
 Film Society to organise an
 annual Singapore Chinese Film
 Festival, to promote Chinese
 films and culture, as well as
 foster dialogue with artistes
 and film-makers from various
 Chinese-speaking communities
 in the region.

April ▸ Launched the iStudyGuide and
 Blackboard Mobile Learn application making 
 content accessible via mobile devices, thus
 enabling greater learning flexibility.
▸ Rolled out the Ministry of Education’s Tuition
 Fee Loan and Study Loan Schemes to all
 eligible part-time undergraduate students,
 similar to what their counterparts at the
 autonomous Singapore universities enjoy.

▸ Launched the Master of Engineering and
 Doctor of Philosophy programmes – UniSIM’s
 first graduate degree programmes by
 research.

▸ The Singapore Institute of Surveyors and
 Valuers accredited the Bachelor of Building   
 and Project Management programme,   
 recognising it as a qualification for admission   
 to the institute.

July
February
▸ Signed MOU with the Ministry
 of Defence to share expertise and  
 provide UniSIM Business Analytics  
 students with work on actual
 business problems from the
 Defence Psychology Department.

▸ Partnered the People’s
 Association (PA) to launch 
 the UniSIM-PA Sponsorship
 programme, providing
 grassroots leaders and PA
 staff members with greater
 opportunity to upgrade   
 through lifelong education.

March

June
▸ Received accreditation for  
 the Bachelor of Engineering
 in Electronics programme  
 from the Engineering
 Accreditation Board,
 Institution of Engineers  
 Singapore.

▸ Joined hands with Thatz
 International to develop job
 ready Information
 Technology (IT) graduates  
 to address emerging needs
 in Singapore’s IT Service
 Management sector. 

September

October

November
▸ Signed MOU with Thomson
 Reuters to provide free use
 of its ONESOURCE Transfer
 Pricing technology to
 students of UniSIM’s Master  
 of Taxation programme.

▸ Commenced the   
 Certification Examination  
 for Professional Translators
 – a national standard
 for professional translation
 competence tailored to the
 needs of Singapore.

▸ Collaborated with the Taipei Representative Office in
 Singapore on the Spotlight Taiwan Project – an initiative by  
 Taiwan’s Ministry of Culture to promote international   
 cultural exchanges and appreciation of Taiwan’s culture.
▸ Produced and launched, jointly with the Singapore Logistics
 Association, the book Managing Logistics and Supply Chain
 Challenges: Singapore Insights and Perspectives that
 features contributions on real-life studies and solutions
 developed to address key industry challenges by industry
 practitioners and academics.
▸ Education Minister Heng Swee Keat announced the launch 
 of the new publicly-funded full-time programmes
 in Accountancy, Finance and Marketing in 2014, and
 establishment of Singapore’s third law school at UniSIM.

▸ The CFA Institute University Recognition Program 
endorsed the Bachelor of Science in Finance 
programme enabling UniSIM to award CFA Institute 
Awareness Scholarships to five students each year.

▸ Partnered the Singapore Table Tennis Association 
(STTA) to launch the UniSIM-STTA Sports Leader 
Sponsorship programme to provide high potential 
paddlers with higher education at UniSIM.

▸ Signed MOUs with 14 audit firms, viz., Baker Tilly 
TFW LLP, BDO LLP, Deloitte & Touche LLP, DHA+ 
pac, Ernst & Young Solutions LLP, Foo Kon Tan 
Grant Thornton LLP, KPMG Services  Pte. Ltd, 
Mazars LLP, Moore Stephens LLP, Nexia TS Public 
Accounting Corporation, Ng Liew Peng &  Co, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, RSM Chio Lim LLP 
and Y M Kew & Co, to provide work attachment 
opportunities to the students of UniSIM’s full-time 
Bachelor of Accountancy programme. Gained similar 
support from Philip Liew & Co and CA Practice PAC, 
thereafter.

▸	 	Rolled out the Ministry of 
Education’s Bursary Scheme to all 
eligible part-time undergraduate  
students, similar to what their 
counterparts at the autonomous 
Singapore universities enjoy.
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We empower individuals to 
realise their full potential.
Our determination to build learning around our students 
sees us transforming higher education in Singapore. With 
a wide range of multi-disciplinary modular programmes, 
we unlock endless possibilities and facilitate our learners 
to fulfil their boldest ambitions.

EUGENE SEAH HSIU-MIN
Doctor of Philosophy in Engineering student
Group Managing Director, Langdon & Seah Singapore Pte Ltd
Adjunct Assistant Professor, National University of Singapore
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UniSIM is home to more than 13,000 
students. As Singapore’s only private 
university and a pioneer of lifelong education, 
UniSIM offers more than 50 programmes 
in various disciplines through four schools: 
School of Arts and Social Sciences, School 
of Business, School of Human Development 
and Social Services, and School of Science 
and Technology. These programmes are 
taught by over 800 academics and industry 
practitioners who bring with them relevant 
and up-to-date experiences.

Carving Out New Frontiers
2013 marked a pivotal point for UniSIM. 
Working closely with the Ministry 
of Education (MOE), we laid the 
groundwork to launch our first suite 
of government-subsidised full-time 
undergraduate degree programmes.

This follows the recommendations by the 
Committee on University Education Pathways 
Beyond 2015, which saw UniSIM being 
designated by the Government to offer new 
publicly-funded full-time degree programmes 
in order to meet the growing demand for 
university places and support Singapore’s 
economic growth.

In October 2013, Minister for Education 
Mr Heng Swee Keat announced that 
UniSIM will offer its first full-time degree 
programmes in Accountancy, Finance and 
Marketing. To commence in August 2014, 
these programmes will see 200 students 
in the pioneering cohort, with the full-time 
intake projected to be 800 students per year 
in five years’ time.

These new programmes are applied degrees 
that combine purpose-designed curricula 
with soft skills development, structured 
and substantial work attachment, practice-
integrated professional core, overseas 
experience and transformative service 

learning. The aim of the programmes is 
to groom skilled professionals with three 
distinct attributes – graduates who are well-
grounded in their chosen field with practical 
experience to hit the ground running, 
motivated to make a positive social impact, 
and self-directed lifelong learners.

In May 2013, the Government accepted the 
recommendations of the Fourth Committee 
on the Supply of Lawyers to establish a 
new law school. In October that same 
year, Minister Heng Swee Kiat announced 
that UniSIM was selected to host this new 
school. The Government made this decision 
after considering our strong track record in 
providing degree programmes for working 
adults, and our complementary offerings 
in the social sciences and humanities. The 
mandate of the new law school is to provide 
a strong foundation in all core law subjects 
while developing specialist expertise in 
criminal and family law. A unique feature of 
the UniSIM Law School will be the emphasis 
on multi-disciplinary and applied learning.

The establishment of the full-time programmes 
and law school is a significant milestone which 

01. Education Minister Mr Heng Swee Keat, delivering his 
address as Guest of Honour at the opening session of 
UniSIM’s Convocation 2013. 

02. Graduates from the Class of 2013 celebrating this important 
milestone in their lives.

POTENTIAL

adds new dimensions to UniSIM’s established 
standing as a private university for working 
adults. These developments will push UniSIM 
to the forefront of Singapore’s higher 
education sector as we enable a growing 
number of individuals to reach their full 
potential.

Such individuals include the 1,980 graduates 
who received their degree certificates 
at Convocation 2013 in October. Among 
them were the pioneer cohorts of the 
Master programmes in Gerontology 
and Human Capital Management, and 
undergraduate programmes in Early 
Childhood Education with Management, 
Facilities and Event Management, Info-
Comm Technology with Military Studies, 
Logistics with Military Studies, and 
Psychology with Military Studies.

Increasing Programme Offerings
To meet the demands and challenges of 
the highly-dynamic global economy, we 
continually review and update our teaching 

02

01

pedagogy and curricula to ensure that they 
are current, relevant and competitive. Our 
goal is to ensure that our students and 
graduates have access to core skill sets and 
knowledge to contribute effectively to their 
respective fields.

To this end, we launched two new graduate 
degree programmes in 2013. The Master 
of Engineering and Doctor of Philosophy 
programmes have been designed to focus 
on industrial research and to encourage 
collaboration between UniSIM and the 
industry. Students enrolled in these 
programmes will gain high-level research 
skills, practical know-how and sound 
academic knowledge in their chosen fields.

We also set a national standard for 
professional translation competence 
in Singapore when we introduced the 
Certification Examination for Professional 
Translators. This certification complements 
our existing Certification Examination for 
Professional Interpreters.
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Enlarging Access To Education 
It is very encouraging that the Government 
has recognised the value of the education 
at UniSIM and has pledged more support 
to our learners by increasing the options 
for financial assistance. In 2013, MOE’s 
Bursary Scheme, Tuition Fee Loan Scheme 
and Study Loan Scheme were rolled out to 
eligible students taking UniSIM’s part-time 
undergraduate programmes. 

It is also our desire to make the higher 
education sector in Singapore more inclusive 
and to provide continued education to all 
who are capable of pursuing further studies. 
In this respect, UniSIM has taken the lead 
and launched initiatives to meet the needs of 
specific groups of students.

In March, we inked a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with the People’s 
Association (PA) that will see UniSIM 
sponsor up to 80% of the total course 
fees of five non-degree holder grassroots 
leaders and PA staff members who enrol 
in any UniSIM undergraduate programme. 
This sponsorship will be offered every 
year over the next three years.

In September, we launched the UniSIM-STTA 
Sports Leader Sponsorship programme 
with the Singapore Table Tennis Association 
(STTA) to provide high potential athletes 
with university education opportunities. 
UniSIM will sponsor two outstanding 
Singapore paddlers who enrol in any of its 
undergraduate programme per year for the 
next five years.

Winning Industry Recognition 
Accreditation and recognition of UniSIM’s 
programmes by independent agencies are a 
strong endorsement of our ability to deliver 
education that is rigorous and that meets the 
highest standards set by the industry. 

In 2013, the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants granted exemptions 
to our Bachelor of Accountancy programme 
graduates on some of their courses which are 
prerequisites to professional certification.

The CFA Institute University Recognition 
Program endorsed our Bachelor of Science 
in Finance programme. This endorsement 
enables UniSIM to award five CFA Institute 
Awareness Scholarships to deserving 
students each year.

Successful accreditation was also secured 
from the Engineering Accreditation 
Board of the Institution of Engineers 
Singapore for our Bachelor of Engineering 
in Electronics programme, and from the 
Singapore Institute of Surveyors and 
Valuers for our Bachelor of Building and 
Project Management programme.

The confidence of the industry in our 
programmes and their strong support 
for our students and graduates inspire 
us to stretch our limits and build on 
the academic quality and rigour of our 
curriculum, pedagogy and faculty.

Boosting Education Technology 
In line with the global trend of leveraging 
technology in education, one of UniSIM’s 
top priorities is to promote and enable the 
innovative use of technology to deliver 
engaging programmes and services to our 
students. E-learning continues to be our 
primary engine to deliver flexibility to our 
students, enabling convenient, round-the-
clock access to learning content – a feature 
highly desired as a large proportion of them 
are working adults.

In July, we made big strides in our campus-
wide e-learning momentum when we 
successfully launched three new tools – 
the iStudyGuide, Blackboard Mobile Learn 
application, and e-Textbooks – that help 
deliver an enhanced learning experience.

The iStudyGuide and Blackboard Mobile 
Learn application effectively enable content 
to be accessed via mobile devices such as 
tablets and smartphones. Our e-Textbooks 
have been rolled out in close consultation 
with publishers to allow for easy retrieval of 
learning resources, while our iStudyGuides 
offer functionalities such as note-taking, text 
highlighting, and sharing of notes, comments 
and other online resources.

We also launched e-courses for our Malay 
programme which is recognised as one of the 
pioneering moves in e-course development 
in the field of Malay studies in Singapore and 
the region.

As an endorsement of the quality of our 
digital offerings, six e-courses attained the 
Quality Matters certification, which is an 
internationally-recognised quality assurance 
audit that evaluates online education and 
student learning.

By putting focus on ramping up the 
development of e-learning content, we 
were able to deliver 15% of our courses as 
e-courses at the end of 2013. 

04. (2nd from left) Assoc Prof Yip Woon Kwong, Registrar, UniSIM; Prof Cheong Hee Kiat, President, 
UniSIM; Mr Tan Chuan-Jin, Acting Minister for Manpower; Er Dr Lee Bee Wah, Member of 
Parliament for the Nee Soon GRC and President of STTA; and Ms Wong Hui Leng, Chief Executive 
Officer, STTA, posing with Singapore’s national and youth table tennis players after the MOU 
signing between UniSIM and STTA.

 05. UniSIM’s iStudyGuide, Blackboard Mobile Learn application and e-Textbooks enhance students’ 
anytime, anywhere and at own pace learning.
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05
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03. Assoc Prof Yip Woon Kwong (seated, left), Registrar, 
UniSIM, and Mr Chan Boon Fui, Deputy Chief Executive, PA, 
signing the MOU, with Prof Cheong Hee Kiat (standing, left), 
President of UniSIM, and Mr Yam Ah Mee, Chief Executive 
Director of PA, witnessing it.
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We cultivate relevant 
partnerships and programmes 
to shape a new generation  
of leaders. 
Our close collaboration and strong relationship with academic 
and industry partners underpin our goal to equip our students 
and graduates with real-world skills, knowledge, expertise and 
connections. We groom capable and informed professionals 
who are ready to contribute and lead.

QUEK KENG LIANG
Chairman 
Singapore Logistics Association
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We continue to make a concerted effort 
to forge strong ties with, and seek 
support from, our network of academic 
and industry partners whose invaluable 
experience and expertise play a critical 
role in equipping our students with real-
world applications and knowledge, life 
skills and qualifications. Being cognisant 
of industry trends and having access to 
opportunities for hands-on learning enable 
our students to contribute meaningfully 
in their workplace and to the industry.
 
Partnering For A Better Tomorrow
Throughout 2013, we forged new connections 
and strengthened existing relationships with 
our industry partners to bring fresh learning 
perspectives and networking opportunities 
into our programmes.
 
In February, we signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with the Ministry of 
Defence (MINDEF) to provide our Business 
Analytics students with the opportunity 
to gain valuable exposure and apply their 
learning to actual business problems from the 
Defence Psychology Department.

In October, we renewed our successful 
partnership with the Singapore Logistics 
Association (SLA) by sealing an agreement 
to groom and retain industry talent through 
UniSIM’s Bachelor of Science in Logistics and 
Supply Chain Management programme. 

To mark the occasion, we co-published 
the book Managing Logistics and Supply 
Chain Challenges: Singapore Insights and 
Perspectives which was launched at the 
Young Logistics Professionals Forum during 
FIATA Singapore 2013. With contributions 
from 38 industry practitioners and 
academics, the book features real-life case 
studies and innovative solutions that address 
key industry challenges.

RELEVANT 01. (Beginning 10th from left) Prof Tsui Kai Chong, Provost, UniSIM; Colonel Bernard Lim, Chief Psychologist, MINDEF; Assoc Prof Lee Pui Mun, Dean, 
School of Business, UniSIM; and Mr Tan Kok Yam, Director Manpower, MINDEF; at the signing of the MOU between UniSIM and MINDEF’s Defence 
Psychology Department.

02. (From left) Mr Thomas Sim, First Deputy Chairman, SLA; Assoc Prof Muhammad Faishal Ibrahim, Parliamentary Secretary for Transport and Health; 
and Assoc Prof Lee Pui Mun, Dean, School of Business, UniSIM; at the UniSIM-SLA MOU signing-cum-book launch ceremony.

03. (From left) Assoc Prof Philip Cheang, Dean, School of Science and Technology, UniSIM, and Mr Simon Lee, Chief Executive Officer, Thatz International, 
exchanging mementoes after signing the MOU agreeing to jointly develop job-ready Information Technology (IT) graduates to address emerging 
needs in Singapore’s IT Service Management sector.

In November, we inked an MOU with 
Thomson Reuters that would provide our 
Master of Taxation programme students 
access to the ONESOURCE Transfer Pricing 
technology. The ability to understand and 
use this industry-leading application for 
managing transfer pricing data, policy 
and regulations gives our students a 
competitive edge in the industry.

To develop and enhance the capabilities 
of our social work and counselling 
students, we established new practicum 
sites in 2013 with the support of our 
partners such as Daybreak Family Service 
Centre, Handicaps Welfare Association, 
Leukemia and Lymphoma Foundation, 
Rainbow Centre, Singapore Prison Service 
and Special Needs Trust Company.

To ensure continued improvement in the 
quality and industrial relevance of our 
science and technology programmes, 
we established new alliances with 
public and private sector organisations, 
viz., Cranfield University, International 
Institute for Learning Inc (Asia), Singapore 

Polytechnic, Singapore Technologies 
Aerospace Ltd and Thatz International.

Looking ahead to the launch of our full-
time Bachelor of Accountancy programme, 
we signed MOUs with 16 audit firms, viz., 
Baker Tilly TFW LLP, BDO LLP, CA Practice 
PAC, Deloitte & Touche LLP, DHA+ pac, 
Ernst & Young Solutions LLP, Foo Kon Tan 
Grant Thornton LLP, KPMG Services Pte. 
Ltd, Mazars LLP, Moore Stephens LLP, 
Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation, 
Ng Liew Peng & Co, Philip Liew and Co, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, RSM Chio 
Lim LLP and Y M Kew & Co. These firms 
will provide structured work attachment 
opportunities for the full-time Accountancy 
students to help them develop professional 
skills and gain real work experience that 
complements their classroom learning.

Synergising Research And Application
At UniSIM, we have built a sound track record of 
collaborating with businesses and public sector 
organisations to promote industry-relevant 
projects. The scope of our research projects has 
grown in tandem with the University.

01 02 03

New collaborations in 2013 included 
a commission by the Early Childhood 
Development Agency to carry out a 
landscape study on the parenting of young 
children in Singapore, covering areas such 
as parenting knowledge, attitudes, practices 
and resources. We also provided pro bono 
research support to Assumption Pathway 
School in its study on school-based social 
workers and to the Singapore Prison Service 
in its evaluation of the Yellow Ribbon Project. 
The opportunity to be directly involved in 
such topical research gives insights to our 
students and faculty on important societal 
and industry issues.

During the year, we continued to collaborate 
with key industry partners on several large-
scale research and survey projects. We 
conducted the quarterly Business Times-
UniSIM Business Climate Survey, now in its 
seventh year; the Land Transport Authority 
Public Transport Customer Satisfaction 
Survey, which is in its fifth year; and, the 
longitudinal study of low income households 
in Singapore, commissioned by the Central 
Singapore Community Development Council.
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In 2013, nine applied research projects were 
completed and five new funding applications 
were approved. Additionally, to reinforce our 
role as a resource hub for entrepreneurs, 
companies and educationalists to gain 
experience and learn best practices on 
various industries and learning pedagogies, 
we organised 10 seminars on a wide range of 
topics. Seminar presenters were drawn from 
academia, businesses and the Government, 
and included distinguished guests such as  
Dr Tan Cheng Bock, Mr Inderjit Singh,  
Mr Mah Bow Tan and Mr Ron Sim.

In the coming year, we will continue to 
promote practical research and expand 
our linkages with key institutions, 
companies and government agencies to 
enhance UniSIM’s profile and reputation 
as a university for industry.

05. Mr Ron Sim, Founder and Chief Executive Officer, OSIM International Ltd 

06.  Former Minister Mr Mah Bow Tan

07. Mr Inderjit Singh, Chief Executive Officer,  Solstar International Pte Ltd

08. Mr Liak Teng Lit, Group Chief Executive Officer, Alexandra Health System

09. Mr Bilahari Kausikan, Ambassador-at-Large, Ministry of Foreign Affairs

10. Dr Tan Cheng Bock, Chairman, Dredging International Asia Pacific Pte Ltd

04. Representatives from the audit firms which will provide 
structured work attachment opportunities for students of 
the full-time Accountancy programme.

04

06

08

09

10

Distinguished speakers of our Centre for Applied Research Seminar Series 2013 included:

05 07
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We nurture character and 
competencies with our 
holistic education.
Our philosophy and practice of providing a well-rounded 
education, which extends beyond the classroom, help 
our learners build a balanced foundation of intellectual 
and life skills, broaden their perspectives, form a strong 
connection with the community, and a deeper sense of 
identity and purpose.

CHUA WEI BIN
Centre Head
Ang Mo Kio Family Service Centres (Cheng San)

NATALIE LIM XIN HUI
Senior Social Worker
Ang Mo Kio Family Service Centres (Cheng San)
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At UniSIM, we actively organise and host 
activities to support the exchange of ideas 
and build closer ties among our faculty 
and students, with industry partners and 
professionals, as well as with members of the 
wider community and the public.

Nurturing An Appreciation Of Life
Throughout 2013, UniSIM students and 
faculty participated actively in industry 
activities and events to learn about the latest 
news, share knowledge and connect with 
other students, industry practitioners 
and experts. 

In April, we collaborated with the Singapore 
Film Society (SFS) to organise an annual 
Singapore Chinese Film Festival to promote 
Chinese films and culture, as well as foster 
dialogue between artists and film-makers 
from Chinese-speaking regions. The inaugural 
festival showcased 10 Singapore-premiered 
independent movies from China, Taiwan and 
Hong Kong.

In October, we also joined hands with the 
Taipei Representative Office in Singapore 
on the Spotlight Taiwan Project to promote 
international cultural exchanges and 
appreciation of Taiwan’s culture. 

To supplement classroom learning and 
increase awareness of societal issues, we 
organised a social work symposium for 
the first time together with the Ang Mo 
Kio Family Service Centres (AMKFSC). Held 
in September with the theme Issues and 
Challenges in Contemporary Singapore, the 
symposium brought together social workers 
to share best practices and discuss emerging 
trends and challenges. 

In December, we hosted a meeting of 25 
work and organisational psychologists 
representing various academic and 
commercial institutions, such as INSEAD, 

HOLISTIC
Nanyang Technological University, National 
University of Singapore, FedEx, Mitsubishi, 
Standard Chartered Bank, Civil Service 
College, and Singapore Sports Council. The 
interesting mix of practitioners resulted in a 
very stimulating and insightful forum.

Learning From Sharing
At UniSIM, we believe in incorporating 
insights from experienced industry 
practitioners into our curricula and 
classrooms as a means of informing and 
inspiring our students. Industry speakers are 
invited to share their experiences through 
a series of talks with our students, who 
can acquire a better understanding of how 
policies, strategies and theories are applied 
by executives, organisations and industries in 
the business world.

Our bi-annual Let’s Talk Business seminars 
featured prominent business leaders 
including the founder of Savant Degrees 
Mr Zi Huan Wee, Chief Executive Officer of 
Gurusoft Mr Han Kian Kwang, founder of 
DrGL Dr Georgia Lee and founder of iSentia 
Brandtology Mr Eddie Chau. Their talks, 
which touched on pertinent topics such 
as entrepreneurship, building successful 
businesses and motivating teams, stirred 
the imagination of our students and enabled 
them to gain valuable professional insights.

To introduce students to the professions of 
media management, public relations and 
corporate communications, we organised 
a series of talks by experienced industry 
practitioners from MediaCorp, Hill+Knowlton 
Strategies, Janus Education Services and Red 
Shoe Communications.

We also hosted a number of visiting experts 
including award-winning authors Professor 
Shawn Wong from University of Washington 
and Professor Moira Crone from Louisiana 
State University. Besides being treated to 

readings from their books, students, alumni, 
staff and associates had the opportunity 
to engage in stimulating discussions on a 
wide range of topics such as writing and the 
editorial process in the modern age.

Expanding Perspectives
Student field trips provide unique 
opportunities for students to engage first-
hand with experienced practitioners in their 
place of work. Overseas study trips enable 
our students to combine field-based learning 
with the opportunity to broaden their 
cultural awareness, outlook and sensitivity.

A study trip to Korea and Taiwan in May 
for students in the Master of Science in 
Urban Transport Management programme 
exposed them to best practices in bus 
and subway operations, intelligent 
transport management systems and public 
transport policy-making processes.

In June, the Master of Gerontology 
programme students participated in a 
practical and meaningful study trip to 
Okinawa, Japan, where they experienced 
first-hand the lives of Okinawan centenarians 
and learnt from institutions such as the 
Okinawa Research Center for Longevity 
Science and Kariyushi Longevity University.

Students in the Master of Community 
Leadership and Social Development 
programme took part in mission trips 
to six Asian countries where they were 
exposed to the regional developments in 
these two fields. Organised by the students 
themselves, the visits to the international 
non-governmental organisations, schools, 
charities and social work agents, as well as 
other government bodies, expanded the 
students’ horizon. 

01. (From left) Mr Kenneth Tan, SFS Chairman, and Prof Eddie Kuo, Director, UniSIM Centre for 
Chinese Studies, exchanging the signed MOU which led to the launch of the Singapore Chinese 
Film Festival.

02. Award-winning Ilo Ilo director Mr Anthony Chen (seated, extreme right), moderating 
a discussion on Writing and Directing for Chinese Cinema: The Balance between Art and 
Commerce, featuring foreign and local film director panellists, at the inaugural Singapore  
Chinese Film Festival.

01

02
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03.  (From left) Prof Eddie Kuo, Director, UniSIM Centre for 
Chinese Studies, and Mr Fadah Hsieh, Representative of the 
Taipei Representative Office in Singapore, displaying the 
signed MOU to collaborate on the Spotlight Taiwan Project. 

04. (From left) Prof Wong Yoon Wah, Senior Vice President, 
Southern University College, Malaysia; Mr David Quah, 
Chairman, Bel Canto Singers, Hong Kong; Mr Lee Soo Chee, 
Lecturer, Institute of Chinese Studies at Universiti Tunku 
Abdul Rahman, Malaysia; and Assoc Prof Koh Hock Kiat, 
Director, Confucius Institute at Nanyang Technological 
University, participating in a forum on the poetry of  
world-renowned Taiwanese poet and scholar  
Yu Kwang-chung, which was part of the series of events 
under the Spotlight Taiwan Project.

05. (From left) American Writers Festival 2013 guest speakers 
Prof Shawn Wong and Prof Moira Crone in an engaging 
discussion with the UniSIM audience.

04

06

06. Mr Chan Chun Sing, Minister for Social and Family 
Development and Second Minister for Defence, addressing 
participants of the UniSIM-AMKFSC Social Work  
Symposium 2013. 

07.  Students from the Master of Science in Urban Transport 
Management programme attending a lecture on the Seoul 
bus reforms by Prof Kim Kwang Sik from Sungkyunkwan 
University during their study trip to Korea.

08. Participants of the Master of Gerontology programme  
study trip to Japan learning exercise dance moves from  
a centenarian at Utopia – a day care facility in Okinawa.

03
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JUAY CHIEW LUI
Bachelor (Honours) of Social Work alumna
Social Worker-cum-Centre Manager, Harmony Activity 
Centre and Geylang East Neighbourhood Link

CHAN MUN KIAT
Bachelor of Science in Psychology alumnus
Research Assistant, Ministry of Education

MOHAMAD HAFIz BIN MOHAMAD NOR
Bachelor of Science in Business student
Management Support Officer, Singapore Police Force

We engage and contribute 
in new and inspiring ways.
Our students and alumni form the mainstay of the 
UniSIM community. Our events provide a unifying 
platform for exchanging ideas, and forging lasting 
relationships that positively influence the communities 
around us.
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The diverse expertise and experience of our 
rapidly growing body of students and alumni 
present a rich amalgamation of minds that 
can be tapped to further inform and impact 
communities. To facilitate the connecting of 
minds, we have in place a range of activities 
throughout the year to engage the students 
and alumni, many of whom have done us 
proud with their achievements in their 
respective fields of influence.

Making A Mark 
Psychology student Chan Mun Kiat received 
the 2013 Singapore Psychological Society 
(SPS) Gratitude Award for his Honours 
thesis which examined the relationship 
between altruism, happiness, and health 
on 150 adults in Singapore. This is the 
second year running that a UniSIM student 
has received an SPS student research 
award, amidst strong competition from 
the other Singapore universities.

In the area of Business Analytics, a paper 
co-authored by student Jess Lau Pei San, 
and faculty member Dr James Tan, titled 
Time Series Clustering: A Superior Alternative 
for Market Basket Analysis, was awarded 
the Best Paper among 188 research papers 
submitted to the 1st International Conference 
on Advanced Data and Information 
Engineering, held in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 
in December.

A journal article titled Great (transformational)
leadership = charisma + vision, co-authored 
by our faculty member Associate Professor 
Klaus Templer with Naresh Khatri and Pawan 
S. Budhwar, and published in the South 
Asian Journal of Global Business Research, 
was a Highly Commended Award Winner 
at the Emerald Literati Network Awards for 
Excellence 2013.

INSPIRING
Going Beyond
In 2013, many of our students shone in 
activities outside of their academic pursuits. 
This is testament not only to the diversity 
of talent in the University, but also to how 
UniSIM offers an education experience that 
instils confidence in our learners to pursue 
their education and career aspirations, as 
well as to achieve excellence in every aspect 
of their lives. 

At the 27th SEA Games in Myanmar held in 
December, Psychology student Nicole Tan 
Ling Chiao did Singapore proud by winning 
the country’s first-ever gold medal in the 25m 
Air Pistol Women’s event.

In September, at the World Engineers’ 
Summit Biennial Photography Competition 
2013, our Multimedia Technology and Design 
students clinched two awards. Eric Phoon 
won the Institution of Engineers Singapore-

Photographic Society of Singapore (IES-PSS) 
Merit Award and Kalarani Sathappah, the 
International Federation of Photographic Art 
(FIAP) Honourable Mention. This worldwide 
competition was aimed at raising awareness 
of environmental challenges through photos 
and visuals.

Engaging The Community
To foster greater campus involvement, we 
organised various activities for our 13,000 
students and 22,000 alumni to connect, 
communicate and collaborate. Many of 
these activities enabled them to mingle 
and interact with government and industry 
representatives, and to give back to society. 

Such activities included dialogue sessions 
with Mr Heng Swee Keat, Minister for 
Education and Mr Chan Chun Sing, Minister 
for Social and Family Development 
and Second Minister for Defence. Six 01. Dr James Tan (left), Senior Lecturer, UniSIM, receiving the 

Best Paper award for his joint paper with Business Analytics 
student Jess Lau Pei San.

02. UniSIM Psychology student Nicole Tan Ling Chiao (centre) 
won Singapore’s first gold medal in the 25m Air Pistol 
Women’s event at the 27th SEA Games.

0201

hundred of our students and alumni 
also participated in some 40 dialogue 
sessions in 2013 as part of the national 
initiative Our Singapore Conversation.

To expand the scope of experience of our 
students and alumni, we collaborated with 
the Ang Mo Kio Family Service Centres 
in June on a charity event. Our students, 
alumni and staff volunteers joined hands to 
distribute more than 100 bags of household 
rations to residents from the Interim Rental 
Housing Scheme in Ang Mo Kio. Our students 
and alumni also participated in a Mid-Autumn 
Festival celebration with the Geylang East 
Home for the Aged.
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Other activities organised to engage and 
network with our alumni included a hi-tea 
session to welcome the Class of 2013 
into the UniSIM alumni community, a 
bowling competition, movie screenings 
and health talks. We also organised a new 
initiative for volunteers in the Newsletter 
Editorial Group to learn new publishing 
skills that will enhance their effectiveness 
in the production of the quarterly 
Connecting UniSIM alumni newsletter. 

During the year, we launched the Master 
of Gerontology Alumni Committee – our 
first graduates’ club. The committee 
will assist in planning activities for the 
alumni of the Master’s programme to 
foster ties with one another and with 
current students, as well as for the alumni 
to provide mentorship to students.

We continue to deepen the scope of our 
engagements and strengthen ties with our 
students and alumni members as we believe 
a strong connection will encourage the 
contribution of expertise and donations to 
support UniSIM’s plans in the longer term.

03. Mr Heng Swee Keat (centre), Minister for Education, and  
Ms Indranee Rajah, Senior Minister of State for Law and 
Education, at the dialogue session with UniSIM students  
and alumni, moderated by Prof Tsui Kai Chong, Provost  
of UniSIM.

04. Children trying their luck at the game stall manned by 
UniSIM students and alumni volunteers during the Mid-
Autumn Festival celebration at the Geylang East Home  
for the Aged.

03
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05. Overwhelming response from our alumni members   
at the feng shui seminar conducted by Grand Master   
Tan Khoon Yong.

06. Alumni and their family members at the UniSIM Unwind 
Saturday: Meet & Movie event.

07. Alumni members learning more about chocolates during an 
appreciation workshop held at Chocz.

08. Participants of the Best-Dressed Competition at the UniSIM 
Graduates’ Night 2013 showing off their dance moves.
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We enable learners to be 
change-makers with our 
distinct education.
Our distinctive learning and teaching environment, coupled 
with our exemplary standards of quality, empower our 
students to develop mastery in their chosen fields and to make 
a difference in the lives of others.

DARRELL CHAY YUET LYE
Associate, School of Arts and Social Sciences, SIM University
Recipient of the SIM University Teaching Excellence Award 2013
Associate, University of London, SIM Global Education
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At UniSIM, we continue to invest in a 
wide spectrum of learning, teaching and 
development resources in our ongoing 
efforts to meet the evolving needs of 
faculty, associates, staff and students. 
Efforts are focused on helping students 
learn effectively, transforming knowledge 
into practical skills through carefully 
planned self-directed learning programmes, 
training courses and on-campus activities.

Enhancing Learning Support
During the year, we rolled out several 
initiatives to enhance our students’ learning 
and study skills.

An area of ongoing priority is enhancing 
our students’ English language proficiency. 
We launched an online self-assessment 
in January to help our students identify 
their strengths and weaknesses around 
the core competencies of reading, writing 
and listening comprehension. To address 
their specific learning needs in areas such 
as grammar and academic writing, an 
online course on Essential English Skills was 
launched subsequently to provide customised 
instruction and hands-on practice to those 
who need it.

We also undertook an initiative to improve 
the quality of information in the Knowledge 
Bank on the Student Portal. It was 
essential to ensure that its contents are 
comprehensive and adequate for addressing 
students’ frequently-asked-questions 
relating to their UniSIM education.

As an example of customised learning 
programmes to address specific student 
needs, we leveraged the online synchronous 
learning tool to conduct a three-session 
programme to teach practical strategies for 
taking examinations. The topics covered were 
Reading Your Textbook Effectively, How to 
Remember Well What You Have Read and 
How to Prepare Well for Your Examinations.

DISTINCT
Defining Teaching Excellence 
Our people are our greatest assets. To 
build a vibrant community, we work in 
close consultation with our faculty and 
staff members to identify opportunities for 
professional development. This creates a 
tightly-knit community with a deep sense of 
connection with the University.

01. UniSIM lecturer Dr Abdel Halim Sykes giving students  
an introduction to academic writing.

02. Ms Maura Fogarty, a seasoned communications trainer, 
broadcast journalist and television anchor, advising our 
associates on the dos and don’ts when in front of   
the camera. 01

02
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In 2013, we continued to revamp our training 
programme for associates. Four mandatory 
training modules were revised into two to 
provide associate faculty members with new 
competencies for teaching blended e-courses. 
By doing this, we enhanced the relevance of 
the training programme for our associates 
who are increasingly expected to teach using 
a blended approach.

To better understand the impact of blended 
learning and how our iStudyGuides assist 
learning, we embarked on a pilot study that 
would provide valuable user perspectives and 
baseline data about this mode of learning. 
The pilot study will also capture feedback 
which may help improve future versions of 
the iStudyGuides.

To enrich the learning journey for faculty, 
associates and students, and enable hands-on 
learning, we organised a host of workshops, 
talks, clinics and symposiums covering a 
diverse range of topics – from developing 
presentation, multimedia and study skills, 
to understanding learning and assessment 
techniques.

In September, we held the Faculty Learning 
Symposium which brought our faculty, 
associates and instructors together as a 
teaching community to share ideas and 
insights on ways to promote and realise more 
effective and meaningful learning within the 
UniSIM student community.

Advancing Skills Development
We completed our Staff Competency 
Framework for Success project in 2013. 
Launched in 2011, the project aimed to enable 
UniSIM to continually meet current and 
future business requirements by identifying 
the key competencies, skills and behaviours 
for success, and competency gaps for each 
staff member. The project findings shed 

useful insights for prioritising and designing 
staff development programmes.

Two key training areas that we focused 
on in 2013 were leadership and customer 
service. We conducted a two-day programme 
Situational Leadership II for all people 
managers. A follow-up programme Coaching 
Essentials will take place in 2014. To promote 
a culture of service excellence, Build An 
Uplifting Service Culture and Up Your 
Service workshops were conducted for all 
management staff and staff who come into 
regular contact with students.

Going forward, we continue to step up efforts 
to carve a distinctive education at UniSIM 
by developing high quality pedagogies, 
curricula and technology systems, as well as 
faculty and staff support to meet the diverse 
requirements of our student population.

03. (From left) UniSIM President, Prof Cheong Hee Kiat with 
guest speakers of the Faculty Learning Symposium – 
Mr Cedric Chew, 2013 UniSIM Teaching Excellence Award 
recipient; Assoc Prof Rob Phillips from Murdoch University’s 
School of Education; Dr Cheah Horn Mun, Director of 
Educational Technology at the Ministry of Education, 
Singapore; and Prof Kevin Ashford-Rowe, Director, Centre 
for Learning & Teaching at the Australian Catholic University 
– and Assoc Prof Wong Yue Kee, Vice President (Learning 
Services), UniSIM.

04.  Prof Cheong Hee Kiat (centre), President of UniSIM,  
with UniSIM Teaching Award winners at the Faculty 
Appreciation Dinner 2013.

03
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We drive lifelong 
continuing education.
Our belief is that a passion for lifelong learning is at 
the heart of personal, economic, social and cultural 
advancement. We are committed to empowering 
society through continuous learning in the 
university of life.

SITI NORASYIKIN BINTE MOHAMED RASHID
Officer, Student Recruitment, SIM University

SIVA KUMAR S/O RAMANATHAN CHETTIAR
Executive, Technology Training and Support, SIM University

ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR TENG SU CHING
Director, Continuing Education and Training, SIM University
Head, General Studies Programme and University Core Curriculum, 
School of Human Development and Social Services, SIM University
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UniSIM has clearly articulated its vision 
of empowering society through lifelong 
education. It is our belief that education 
holds the key to inspiring new ways of 
thinking that can positively impact society at 
every level – from individuals, organisations 
and countries to global communities.

Over the last eight years, UniSIM has 
established a strong reputation as a trusted 
partner in lifelong education by meeting 
the aspirations of thousands of adult 
learners who seek continued education 
as a gateway to greater career choice, 
employability and personal fulfilment.

We see in every student, boundless 
ability to scale new heights and to 
reach their highest potential. Hence, 
our commitment is first to understand 
the aspirations of our students and the 
economic and social landscapes in which 
we operate, as these form the foundation 
for developing relevant and impactful 
learning pathways, content and pedagogy.

Increasing Opportunities
To help empower people to realise their 
professional and personal aspirations, we 
have an ongoing Continuing Education and 
Training (CET) programme to make our 
courses available to working adults who 
wish to upgrade themselves in work-related 
competencies or to acquire professional skills 
through credit-bearing courses.

Drawn from more than 200 courses each 
semester cutting across many disciplines, 
the CET courses are academically rigorous 
and industry relevant. Catering to everyone, 
regardless of age or life-stage, the CET courses 
are offered in three modes, viz., credit-
bearing courses for individual students who 
join regular classes, credit-bearing courses 
customised for organisations, and non credit-
bearing courses customised for organisations.

LIFELONG

The CET programme also caters to specific 
audiences of targeted sectors such as 
aerospace, supply chain management, and 
workplace safety and health. In this regard, 
we mounted a one-year customised intensive 
CET in Aerospace Systems programme which 
was opened to the Republic of Singapore 
Air Force personnel. Graduates from this 
programme will be given credits leading to 
the award of our Bachelor of Engineering 
(Honours) in Aerospace Systems degree. 
We also continued to run the Logistics 
Management programme for personnel from 
the Singapore Armed Forces (SAF).

In addition, we mounted a Behavioural 
Science in Safety and Health workshop to 
provide safety and health professionals 
a better understanding of how workers 
behave in their work environment. With 
the Singapore Workforce Development 
Agency’s support, we ran the Train 
the Trainer Programme on Evaluating 
Ergonomics-related Hazards. This 
programme was aimed at uplifting the 
capability of the occupational hygiene 
and workplace-health adult educators.

01. The course certificate presentation ceremony for SAF officers who participated 
in UniSIM’s Logistics Management programme.

01
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In 2014, to meet the evolving needs of our 
multi-faceted economy, we will expand 
the scope of our existing CET programmes 
by launching new courses in the areas 
of aerospace, human resource, logistics 
and supply chain, and workplace safety 
and health. We are also moving ahead 
to launch brand new programmes that 
cover areas of growing importance and 
interest, such as community and social 
service, early childhood education, 
business analytics, and finance. 

We will continue to lead the way in the 
industry by working with industry partners 
to introduce high quality, industry-relevant 
programmes that are in line with the National 
CET Masterplan.

Shaping The Future
The momentum we have gained in 2013 
sets the course for our students and faculty 
members to a differentiated and compelling 
online learning journey in the coming year.  

We will expand the breadth and depth of 
our programme offerings. In fact, we have 
already laid the groundwork to launch 
several new part-time undergraduate degree 
programmes in 2014 in Art Education, 
Music Education, and Sports and Physical 
Education. These pioneer programmes will 
contribute to the emergent art, music 
and sports scenes in Singapore, and meet 
changing market needs. We are also 
looking to introduce a Master of Business 
Administration programme to help 
prepare individuals for a career in senior 
management.

We will continue to focus on building on 
our hallmarks of innovation and flexibility 
to promote lifelong learning. Of particular 
relevance is our e-learning initiative, which 
plays a critical role in supporting busy 
learners who need access to high quality 
programmes that allows them to learn 

anytime, anywhere and at their own pace.
We are making steady progress in executing 
our e-learning strategy and are on track 
to offer 50% of our courses as e-courses 
by 2015. We will step up our efforts 
to explore innovative applications and 
enhance our course content, instruction 
delivery and assessment to ensure that 
they are in line with our programme 
outcomes and quality standards.

To further accelerate our development of a 
robust Learning Management System that 
will add strategic value to the University’s 
teaching and learning framework, we are 
reviewing plans to restructure our Learning 
Services Cluster and form a new unit that will 
focus on learning systems and applications.

Whilst we have established today a powerful, 
symbiotic network of partners in key 
industries, businesses and other public sector 

02. Prof Marc Resnick, Professor of Human Factors and 
Information Design at Bentley University in Massachusetts, 
conducting the Behavioural Science in Safety and Health 
workshop.

organisations, we will continue to strengthen 
and expand our linkages with our broader 
ecosystem, which includes our alumni.

Looking ahead, our focus on our mission 
is stronger today than ever as we support 
a growing number of students in their 
endeavours to “learn today, apply tomorrow”. 
It is our hope that we will continue to play a 
pivotal role in their pursuit of lifelong learning 
by providing an enriching learning experience 
and equipping them with a competitive 
advantage that will benefit them, and the 
organisations and communities of which they 
are a part. 

We, at UniSIM, are all set – inside and out – 
to transform Singapore’s higher education 
landscape.

02
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SIM University Education Fund
In 2005, we established the SIM University Education Fund (SUEF). The purpose 
of this Fund is to establish, build up, maintain and promote the capability of 
UniSIM for the advancement of university education. Conferred the ‘Institution 
of A Public Character’ (IPC) status, the Fund receives tax-deductible donations 
for its activities and shall be used in areas including the development of UniSIM’s 
infrastructure, systems and courses, library development and administration, 
research and development activities, scholarly activities, scholarships, 
sponsorships and study awards.

The SUEF Board of Trustees oversees the management of all tax-deductible 
donations to UniSIM. The Board also establishes the guiding principles for the 
management and utilisation of the Fund, and maintains separate accounting 
records for disbursements for SUEF, as well as for donations received.

In 2013, the Fund supported the development of over 60 courses and more 
than 80 e-courses, which widened the range of offerings at UniSIM and 
garnered even more interest among those keen to pursue higher education. 
It also contributed to the building up of infrastructure vital to the functioning 
and development of the University, including IT infrastructure, software 
development and enhancements.

The SUEF Board of Trustees approved five new research grants during the year 
in such areas as gerontology, psychology, teaching and learning pedagogy, and 
institutional research on student profile. In 2013, there were 18 active faculty 
research projects that were funded from SUEF monies, and of these, seven were 
with industry/external linkages.

The Fund continued to support UniSIM students in their tertiary education 
pursuits through various financial schemes. UniSIM awarded 19 sponsorships,  
12 scholarships, and 84 study grants in 2013. In total, S$454,000 was used 
to support the various financial schemes. Through these schemes, UniSIM 
hopes to recognise scholarly excellence and to provide additional avenues 
for learners needing financial support to pursue their dreams, and in turn, 
contribute to society.

Members of the SUEF Board of Trustees are:

MR LIM SOON HOCK (Chairman)
Managing Director
Plan-B IGAG Pte Ltd

PROFESSOR CHAM TAO SOON
Chancellor and Chairman
SIM University

PROFESSOR BERNARD TAN
Professor of Physics
National University of Singapore

PROFESSOR CHONG CHI TAT
University Professor
Department of Mathematics
National University of Singapore

MR RAMASAMY DHINAKARAN
Managing Director
Jay Gee Group of Companies

MR LAM SIEW WAH
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
(Industry Development)
Building and Construction Authority

DR JOSEPHINE KWA LAY KENG
Chairman
Raffles Marina Holdings Ltd

MR NOEL HON CHIA CHUN
Chairman
e-Cop Pte Ltd

MR RONALD TAN HEE HUAN
Executive Director
Singapore Institute of Management

PROFESSOR CHEONG HEE KIAT
President
SIM University
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Corporate Governance
Good corporate governance is important to the effective performance and 
operation of UniSIM. To this end, we have taken steps to maintain the highest 
standards of corporate governance, professionalism and integrity, as we build a 
university that all our stakeholders can trust and be proud of.

At the helm of UniSIM is the Board of Trustees. The UniSIM Board of Trustees 
oversees the corporate governance, policies and strategies of the University, 
including making key appointments and establishing new schools or 
departments. It also ensures that UniSIM acts to further its objectives in 
education and research, and that its funds and assets are safeguarded and 
properly accounted for.

To assist the Board in the detailed consideration of the various issues at hand 
and to facilitate decision-making are the Audit, Establishment, Finance and 
Nomination Committees. Each committee is governed and regulated by its own 
terms of reference, which set out the scope of its duties and responsibilities, 
regulations and procedures governing the manner in which the committee is to 
operate and how decisions are to be taken.

As part of good corporate governance, UniSIM also has in place a Conflict 
of Interest Policy and Whistle Blowing Policy. Under the Conflict of Interest 
Policy, any UniSIM Board of Trustees member or staff is required to declare  
his/her personal or vested interests in business transactions that the University 
enters into, and is required to abstain from any discussion or decision-making 
on the matter.

The Whistle Blowing Policy extends the notion of corporate governance to all 
staff, allowing them to take responsibility for helping UniSIM achieve a greater 
level of public confidence in its corporate governance.

Corporate Information
REGISTERED ADDRESS
SIM UNIVERSITY
461 Clementi Road
Singapore 599491
Tel: +65 6248 9777
Fax: +65  6469 9312
www.unisim.edu.sg

CHARITY REGISTRATION NUMBER
001887

PRINCIPAL BANKER
CITIBANK, N.A.
8 Marina View #16-00
Asia Square Tower 1
Singapore 018960 

LAWYER
RAMDAS & WONG
36 Robinson Road
#10-01 City House
Singapore 068877 

AUDITOR
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
6 Shenton Way #32-00
DBS Building Tower Two
Singapore 068809
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Report of the Trustees

The Board of Trustees presents its report together with the audited financial statements of SIM University ("UniSIM") for 
the year ended December 31, 2013.

1 TRUSTEES

 The Trustees of UniSIM in office at the date of this report are:

 Professor Cham Tao Soon (Chairman)
 Professor Cheong Hee Kiat (Ex-Officio)
 Professor Chong Chi Tat
 Mr Richard Eu Yee Ming
 Mr Lee Kwok Cheong
 Mr Ong Boon Hwee
 Mr Ronald Tan Hee Huan
 Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
 Mr Ronnie Tay
 Mr Leo Tan Wee Hin
 Mr Seah Moon Ming
 Mr William Lim
 Mr Ng Cher Pong  (appointed on December 1, 2013)

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE TRUSTEES TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
 BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

  Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement 
whose object is to enable the Trustees of UniSIM to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or 
debentures in any other body corporate.

 

3 TRUSTEES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

  As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(6)(g) and Section 201(6A)
(h) of the Companies Act, Cap 50.

4 TRUSTEES’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

  Since the beginning of the financial year, no Trustees has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is 
required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by 
UniSIM or a related corporation with the Trustee or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which 
he has a substantial financial interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the financial 
statements.  Certain Trustees received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/
or executives of those related corporations.

5 OPTIONS TO TAKE UP UNISSUED SHARES

  As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11)(b) and Section 201(12) 
of the Companies Act, Cap 50.
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6 OPTIONS EXERCISED

  As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11) and Section 201(12) of 
the Companies Act, Cap 50.

7 UNISSUED SHARES UNDER OPTION

  As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11) and Section 201(12) of 
the Companies Act, Cap 50.

 8 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES

......................................….…..
Professor Cham Tao Soon

......................................….….....
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

Date: March 11, 2014

Report of the Trustees

In the opinion of the Trustees, the financial statements as set out on pages 65 to 96 are drawn up so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of SIM University as at December 31, 2013, and of the results, changes in funds 
and reserves and cash flows of SIM University for the financial year ended December 31, 2013 and at the date of this 
statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that SIM University will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES

..........................................…..
Professor Cham Tao Soon

..........................................….....
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

Date: March 11, 2014

Statement by Trustees
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Trustees of SIM University

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SIM University which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at December 31, 2013, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and 
reserves and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 65 to 96.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that gives a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”), the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities 
Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting 
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or 
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation 
of true and fair profit and loss account and balance sheet and to maintain accountability of assets.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to SIM University’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of SIM University’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements of SIM University are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act, the Charities Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of SIM University as at December 31, 2013 and of the results, changes in funds and reserves and cash flows of SIM 
University for the year ended on that date.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by SIM University have been properly kept 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year:

(a)  The use of the donation moneys was not in accordance with the objectives of SIM University as required under 
regulation 16 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and

(b)  SIM University has not complied with the requirements of regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the Charities 
(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

Date: March 11, 2014

Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2013

Note 2013 2012
$’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 153,176 119,563
Sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments 8 10,219 9,960
Held-to-maturity financial assets 9 4,000   12,023
Available-for-sale investments 11      -        12,840
Total current assets 167,395 154,386

Non-current assets
Sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments 8 555      -      
Held-to-maturity financial assets 9 10,650 14,696
Plant and equipment 10 4,441 6,633
Available-for-sale investments 11   57,226   28,772
Total non-current assets   72,872   50,101

Total assets 240,267 204,487

LIABILITIES, FUNDS AND RESERVES
Current liabilities
Course fees received in advance 8,689 6,416
Government grants received in advance 12 1,301 400
Other payables 13   19,015   17,160
Total current liabilities   29,005   23,976

Non-current liability
Other payables 13       238      -      

Funds and reserves
General fund:
 Accumulated surplus 111,258 84,671
 Fair value reserve 15            (416)         21

      110,842   84,692
Education fund:
 Accumulated surplus 94,223 93,171
 Fair value reserve 15     4,716     2,477
 Endowment fund 16     1,016      -      

14 99,955   95,648

Other restricted funds 17       227       171
Total funds and reserves 211,024 180,511

Total liabilities, funds and reserves 240,267 204,487

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Note
General

  fund  
Education

    fund    
Endowment

     fund     

Other
restricted

   funds   Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013
Operating income 18 89,985 198   -        -  90,183
Course expenditure (27,739) (2,348) (14) -  (30,101)
Staff and manpower costs 19 (26,333) (5,424) -   -  (31,757)
Depreciation expense 10 (661) (4,667) -     -  (5,328)
Other operating expenditure 20 (13,560) (3,964) -   (2) (17,526)
Non-operating expenditure 21 (15) (470) -   -  (485)
Non-operating income 22     4,910 18,227   30    2 23,169

Net surplus for the year 26,587 1,552  16 -  28,155

Other comprehensive income
Item that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
  Funds utilised       -         -       -      (2)        (2)

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
       Available-for-sale investments 15       (437)   2,239   -     -     1,802

Total other comprehensive
 income for the year, net of tax       (437)   2,239   -      (2)   1,800

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year    26,150   3,791    16    (2) 29,955

2012
Operating income 18 84,912 289   -    -   85,201
Course expenditure (27,131) (2,044)   -  (1) (29,176)
Staff and manpower costs 19 (24,712) (5,015)   -    -  (29,727)
Depreciation expense 10 (875) (4,335)   -    -  (5,210)
Other operating expenditure 20 (12,362) (3,647)   -    -  (16,009)
Non-operating expenditure 21     (20) (366)   -    -  (386)
Non-operating income 22   1,566 19,216   -     1 20,783

Net surplus for the year 21,378 4,098   -    -  25,476

Other comprehensive income

Item that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
  Funds utilised     -         -       -    (1)        (1)

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
       Available-for-sale investments 15       21   1,533   -    -    1,554

Total other comprehensive
 income for the year, net of tax       21   1,533   -    (1)   1,553

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year 21,399   5,631   -    (1) 27,029

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2013

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Funds and Reserves
Year ended December 31, 2013

General Fund Education Fund

Accumulated
  surplus  

Fair
value

 reserve     Total   
Accumulated

surplus

Fair
value

  reserve  
Endowment

     fund         Total    

Other
restricted

   funds   Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at January 1, 2012 63,293   -  63,293 89,073 944 -    90,017 172 153,482

Total comprehensive income  
for the  year
  Profit for the year   21,378    -     21,378   4,098     -        -    4,098    -    25,476

  Other comprehensive 
   income

     -        21        21     -     1,533    -      1,533   (1)    1,553

 Total  21,378    21 21,399   4,098 1,533    -      5,631   (1)   27,029

Balance at December 31, 2012   84,671    21 84,692 93,171 2,477 -    95,648 171 180,511

Total comprehensive income  
for the  year
   Profit for the year 26,587    -    26,587   1,552     -        16 1,568   -    28,155

  Other comprehensive  
   income

    -     (437) (437)     -     2,239    -      2,239   (2)    1,800

 Total  26,587 (437)   26,150   1,552 2,239      16   3,807   (2)   29,955

Grant from a foundation        -           -         -         -         -    500 500    -    500

Grant from foreign government  
 body

              -        -         -     -     -        -         -     58 58

Transfer of funds      -           -       -        (500)    -       500     -       -       -     

Balance at December 31, 2013 111,258    (416) 110,842 94,223 4,716 1,016 99,955 227 211,024

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
Year ended December 31, 2013

Note 2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Operating activities
 Net surplus for the year 28,155 25,476
 Adjustments for:
  Depreciation 5,328 5,210
  Interest income (1,635) (1,818)
  Grant income - Government grants (2,770) (117)
  Other resticted funds utilised (2) (1)
  Gain on disposal of plant and equipment - (75)
  Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments 48 -
  Loss on disposal of held-to-maturity financial assets - 222
  Amortisation of held-to-maturity financial assets premium 69 164
  Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts (14) (34)
  Earned income from endowment fund (30) -
  Dividend income on available-for-sale investments (974) (480)
  Management fees expense on available-for-sale investments 174 146
 Surplus before movements in working capital 28,349 28,693

  Sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments (677) 352
  Course fees received in advance 2,273 959
  Other payables 2,093 1,650
 Cash generated from operations 32,038 31,654

 Interest received 1,728 1,800
Net cash from operating activities 33,766 33,454

Investing activities
 Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 4 75
 Purchase of plant and equipment (3,140) (2,558)
 Dividends received from available-for-sale investments 713 411
 Purchase of available-for–sale investments (30,837) (20,806)
 Proceeds on matured held-to-maturity financial assets 12,000 38,198
 Purchase of held-to-maturity financial assets - (19,151)
 Proceeds on matured available-for-sale investments 16,848 -
Net cash used in investing activities (4,412) (3,831)

Financing activities
 Other restricted funds received 58 -
 Earned income received from endowment fund 30 -
 Endowment fund received from a foundation 500 -
 Grants received from the government - net 3,671 54
Net cash from financing activities 4,259 54

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 33,613 29,677
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 119,563 89,886
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 153,176 119,563

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

1 GENERAL

  UniSIM (UEN 200504979Z) is incorporated in Singapore as a company limited by guarantee with its principal place 
of business and registered office at 461 Clementi Road, Singapore 599491.  It is also subject to the provisions of the 
Charities Act, Chapter 37.  The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

  The principal activities of UniSIM are those relating to the advancement of education and dissemination of knowledge, 
the promotion of research and the conferring and awarding of degrees, diplomas and certificates.

  The financial statements of UniSIM for the year ended December 31, 2013 were authorised for issue by the Board of 
Trustees on March 11, 2014.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

  BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis 
except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments, and are drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards ("FRS").

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
 
  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, UniSIM takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing 
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within 
the scope of FRS 102, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17, and measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 or value in use in FRS 36.

  In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

	 	•	 	Level	1	inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	that	the	entity	
can access at the measurement date;

  
	 •	 	Level	2	inputs	are	inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1,	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	

liability, either directly or indirectly; and
  
	 •	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

  ADOPTION OF REVISED FINANCIAL STANDARDS - On January 1, 2013, UniSIM has adopted all the new and revised 
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS ("INT FRS") that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations.  The 
adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to UniSIM’s accounting policies and has 
no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years except as disclosed below:
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D) 

 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

  Under the amendments to FRS 1, UniSIM grouped items of other comprehensive income into two categories in the 
other comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) 
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Other than the above 
mentioned presentation change, the application of the amendments to FRS 1 does not result in any impact on profit 
or loss, other comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.

 FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

  UniSIM has applied FRS 113 for the first time in the current year. FRS 113 establishes a single source of guidance for fair 
value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The fair value measurement requirements of 
FRS 113 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial assets for which other FRSs require or permit fair 
value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share-based payment transactions 
that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17 
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realisable value 
for the purposes of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes).

  Other than the additional disclosures, the application of FRS 113 has not had any material impact on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs and amendments to FRS that are 
relevant to UniSIM have been issued but are not yet effective:

 Amendments to FRS 36   Impairment of Assets

  The management anticipate that the adoption of the above FRS, INT FRS and amendments to FRS in future period 
is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of UniSIM in the period of their initial adoption 
except for the following:

 Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets 

  The amendments to FRS 36 restrict the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of an asset or cash 
generating unit (CGU) to periods in which an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed. The amendments 
also expand and clarify the disclosure requirements applicable when such asset or CGU’s recoverable amount has 
been determined on the basis of fair value less costs of disposal, such as the level of ‘fair value hierarchy’ within 
which the fair value measurement of the asset or CGU has been determined, and where the fair value measurements 
are at Level 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation techniques used and any changes in that 
valuation technique, key assumptions used including discount rate(s) used. 

  Upon adoption of the amendments to FRS 36, UniSIM expects additional disclosures arising from any asset 
impairment loss or reversals, and where their respective recoverable amounts are determined based on fair value 
less costs of disposal.

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the management has considered and anticipated that the 
adoption of the above FRSs and INT FRSs in future years will not have a material impact on the financial statements 
of UniSIM in the year of their initial adoption.

 

 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

  GENERAL FUND - Income and expenditure are generally accounted for under the General Fund in the Statement 
 of Comprehensive Income. 

 EDUCATION FUND - The SIM University Education Fund ("Education Fund") is conferred the Institution of a Public  
 Character status.  Accordingly, all donations made to the Education Fund will be tax deductible for the donors.

  The income and expenditure relating to the Education Fund are accounted for under the Education Fund in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

  ENDOWMENT FUND - Grants and donations from external sources are taken directly to the statement of funds 
and reserves in the year in which such grants and donations are received. Income and expenditure arising from the 
management of the Endowment Fund are taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Endowment 
Fund.

  OTHER RESTRICTED FUNDS - Sponsorship-Awards fund and other funds comprising donations and sponsorships, 
which are kept intact as capital, are directly taken to the fund in the year in which such donations and sponsorships 
are received for the purpose of awarding of scholarships, medals, prizes to deserving students, developing standards 
in e-learning and development of program lectures and research for project proof of concept.

 
  Income and expenditure arising from the management of the fund is taken directly to Sponsorship-Awards fund 

account and other funds account. Income designated to fund specific activities or programmes will be transferred 
from the fund to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match the designated expenditure.  Any shortfall of 
income from the fund for a particular year will be taken directly to profit or loss.

  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on UniSIM’s statement of 
financial position when UniSIM becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Effective Interest Method

   The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 
interest income or expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part 
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense are recognised on an effective 
interest basis for debt instruments.

 Financial assets

  All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment 
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market 
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value. 

 Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: “financial assets at fair value through profit  
 or loss”, “held-to-maturity”, “available-for-sale” financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The classification   
 depends on the nature and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D) 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

  Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at 
FVTPL.  

 
 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

	 •	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	near	future;	or
  
	 •	 	it	is	a	part	of	an	identified	portfolio	of	financial	instruments	that	UniSIM	manages	together	and	has	a	recent	

actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
 
	 •	 it	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.
 
  A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

	 •	 	such	designation	eliminates	or	significantly	reduces	a	measurement	or	recognition	inconsistency	that	would	
otherwise arise; or

 
	 •	 	the	financial	asset	forms	part	of	a	group	of	financial	assets	or	financial	liabilities	or	both,	which	is	managed	and	

its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with UniSIM’s documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

 
	 •	 	it	forms	part	of	a	contract	containing	one	or	more	embedded	derivatives,	and	FRS	39	(Financial	Instruments:	

Recognition and Measurement) permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at 
FVTPL.

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss.  The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset.  Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

 
 Held-to-maturity investments

  Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where UniSIM has a positive intent and ability 
to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments.  Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield 
basis.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)   
 
 Available-for-sale financial assets

  Certain investments held by UniSIM are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value 
is determined in the manner described in Note 4.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised 
in other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective 
interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profit 
or loss.  Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when UniSIM’s right to receive 
payments is established.  The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is 
determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the reporting date.  The change in fair 
value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset is recognised 
in profit or loss, and other changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.

 Sundry debtors

  Sundry debtors that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as 
"loans and receivables".  Sundry debtors are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less impairment.  Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest 
method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

  Impairment of financial assets

  Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  Financial assets are 
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted.

  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate.

  For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent 
periods.

  The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of sundry debtors where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When 
a sundry debtor is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in profit or loss.

  With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss, to the extent the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

  In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss, 
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D) 

 Derecognition of financial assets

  UniSIM derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity.  If UniSIM neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, UniSIM recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay.  If UniSIM retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, UniSIM continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for 
the proceeds received.

 Financial liabilities

 Other financial liabilities

  Other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

  UniSIM derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, UniSIM’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire.

 Derivative financial instruments

  UniSIM uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign currency exchange contracts to manage its 
exposure to foreign exchange rate risk.

  Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.  The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit 
or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the 
timing of the recognition in income and expenditure statements depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.  
UniSIM designates certain derivatives as hedges of fair value of recognised assets or liabilities.

  A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument 
is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.  Other derivatives are 
presented as current assets or current liabilities.

 Embedded derivatives

  Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are 
not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

 
  An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity 

of the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months and it is not expected 
to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are presented as current assets or 
current liabilities.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)   
 
  LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

  Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.  Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.  Artifacts and painting included in office equipment, furniture and fittings are not depreciated.

  Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line 
method, on the following bases:

  Renovations        - 25%
 Office equipment, furniture and fittings (excluding artifacts and paintings) - 25%
 Computers         - 33.33%
 Motor vehicles        - 20%

 Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

  The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, UniSIM reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss 
(if any).  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, UniSIM estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs.

  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)   

  PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when UniSIM has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that UniSIM will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation.

  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

  When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

  GOVERNMENT GRANTS - These represent contributions made by the government for UniSIM. Government grants 
received for the purchase of plant and equipment or to meet operating expenses are taken to the government 
grants received in advance account.  Grants for the purpose of plant and equipment are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income over the periods necessary to match the depreciation of the assets purchased with the 
related grants.  Government grants to meet operating expenses are recognised as income in the same year the 
expenses are incurred.

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

 Course fees are recognised over the duration of the programmes.

 Diploma license fees are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the agreement.

 Non-endowed donations are recognised in the financial year they are received.

  Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable.

  RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 
expense as they fall due.  Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore 
Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where UniSIM’s obligations under 
the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

  EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees.  A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

 DONATIONS - Donations given are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)   

  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of UniSIM are presented in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).

  In preparing the financial statements of UniSIM, transactions in currencies other than UniSIM’s functional currency 
are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.  At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the end of the reporting 
period.  Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing on the date where the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are 
included in profit or loss for the period.  Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation 
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in the other comprehensive 
income.  For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income.

  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank and fixed deposits 
which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

  In the application of UniSIM’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

  (i) Critical judgements in applying UniSIM’s accounting policies

   Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements except as follows:

  Classification of held-to-maturity investments

   UniSIM follows the guidance of FRS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payment and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity.  This classification requires significant judgement. In making 
this judgement, UniSIM evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.  If UniSIM 
fails to hold these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances, for example, selling an 
insignificant amount close to maturity, it will be required to reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale.  The 
investment would therefore be measured at fair value and no longer at amortised cost.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT'D)
 
 (ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

   The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are as discussed below:

  Fair value of financial instruments

   The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques.  These techniques involve uncertainties and require assumptions and judgements regarding 
prepayments, credit risks and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions will significantly affect the 
estimated value of the financial instruments.  UniSIM uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions 
that are based on market conditions existing on end of the reporting period.  Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are some of the common techniques used to calculate the fair value of these 
instruments. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 respectively.

  Useful lives of plant and equipment

   Management exercises their judgement in estimating the useful lives of plant and equipment and reviews the 
useful lives at the end of each annual reporting period.  The total carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
$4,441,000 (2012 : $6,633,000).

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of financial instruments

  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

  

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 153,176 119,563
Loans and receivables 8,435 7,758
Forward foreign exchange contracts 24 10
Held-to-maturity investments 14,650 26,719
Available-for-sale financial assets    57,226   41,612

Financial liabilities

Other payables   19,253   17,160

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

 (b) Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements

   UniSIM does not have any financial instruments which are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting 
arrangements or similar netting agreements.

  (c) Financial risk management policies and objectives

   Financial risk management policies and objectives are managed at the Singapore Institute of Management 
Group ("SIM Group") level.  The financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects of the financial performance of the company and its subsidiaries.

   SIM Group has documented financial risk management policies.  These policies set out SIM Group’s overall 
business strategies and its risk management philosophy.  SIM Group’s overall financial risk management 
programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial performance of SIM Group and its 
subsidiaries.  The Governing Council of SIM provides written principles for overall financial risk management 
and written policies covering specific areas, such as market risk (included foreign exchange risk, interest rate 
risk, and equity price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow interest rate risk, use of derivative financial 
instruments and investing excess cash.  Such written policies are reviewed annually by the Governing Council 
and periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that SIM Group’s policy guidelines are complied with.  Risk 
Management is carried out by Treasury Department under the policies approved by the Governing Council.

   UniSIM’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial 
performance of UniSIM.

   There has been no significant change to UniSIM’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which 
it manages and measures the risk.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated 
below.

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management

    UniSIM’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of the Sterling 
pound and United States dollar against the Singapore dollar.

    At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than UniSIM’s functional currency are as follows:

   

Assets Liabilities
2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

United States dollar 12,989 10,910 52 180
Sterling pound - - 38 37

   Entities in the SIM group use forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign  
   currency risk in the local reporting currency.  The Treasury Department is responsible for hedging the  
   net position in each borrowing currency.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

   Foreign currency sensitivity

    The sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk is 10%, which is the change in foreign 
exchange rate that the trustees deem reasonably possible which will affect outstanding foreign currency 
denominated monetary items at period end.

    If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of UniSIM without 
considering the effect of the derivative financial instruments, which is Singapore dollar, profit or loss will 
increase (decrease) by:

   

United States dollar impact  Sterling pound impact

2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit or loss (1,294)  (1,073) 4 4

    If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of UniSIM, there 
would be an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss.

   (ii) Interest rate risk management

    UniSIM is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets.  
UniSIM maintains its cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity financial assets in fixed rate 
instruments and does not have any significant interest-bearing liabilities.

    All financial assets and liabilities at year end bear no interest rate except for cash, fixed deposits and held-
to-maturity financial assets.  The average interest rate on held-to-maturity financial asset is disclosed in 
Note 9.

   Interest rate sensitivity analysis

    The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for cash and 
cash equivalent balances at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at 
the beginning of the financial year.  A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s 
assessment of the possible change in interest rate.

    If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, UniSIM’s 
net surplus would increase/decrease by approximately $1.5 million (2012 : $1.2 million).

  (iii) Credit risk management

    UniSIM is not exposed to significant credit risk as most of its fees are received in advance. As at December 
31, 2013 and 2012, UniSIM’s sundry debtors comprise mainly grant receivable from the Ministry of 
Education.

    Cash, fixed deposits, available-for-sale investments and held-to-maturity investments are held with 
reputable financial institutions.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

  (iv) Liquidity risk management

    UniSIM maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance its 
activities.

   Non-derivative financial assets

    The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets.  The tables below 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including 
interest that will be earned on those assets except where UniSIM anticipate that the cash flow will occur 
in a different period.

   

Fixed rate Non-interest bearing

Less than
6 months

6 months
to 12

months

More
than 12
months

On demand
or within

    1 year    

More
than

1 year Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Cash and cash equivalents 153,173 - - 3 - 153,176
Loans and receivables - - - 7,880 555 8,435
Available-for-sale
 investments - - - - 57,226 57,226
Held-to-maturity financial
 assets    4,000 - 10,650 - -  14,650
Total 157,173 - 10,650 7,883 57,781 233,487

2012

Cash and cash equivalents 119,560 - - 3 - 119,563
Loans and receivables - - - 7,758 - 7,758
Available-for-sale
 investments - - - 12,840 28,772 41,612
Held-to-maturity financial
 assets   10,008   2,015 14,696 - -   26,719
Total 129,568   2,015 14,696 20,601 28,772 195,652

   Non-derivative financial liabilities
   
    UniSIM’s financial liabilities are interest-free and $19,015,000 (2012 : $17,160,000) and $238,000 (2012 : 

Nil) are repayable within 1 year and more than a year respectively.  
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

  (v) Equity price risk management

    UniSIM is exposed to equity price risks arising from available-for-sale investments.  Available-for-
sale equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes.  UniSIM does not trade in 
available-for-sale investments.

   Further details of these investments can be found in Note 11 to the financial statements.

   Equity price sensitivity analysis

    The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the 
reporting date. 

    In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, if the prices had been 10% higher/lower while all 
other variables were held constant, UniSIM’s fair value reserves would increase/decrease by $5,723,000 
(2012 : $4,161,000).

  (vi) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

    Other than the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, held-to-maturity financial assets and 
available-for-sale investments, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities reported in the 
statement of assets, liabilities, reserves and fund balances approximate their respective fair values due 
to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair value of held-to-maturity 
and available-for-sale investments financial assets are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 respectively.

    This note provides information about how the UniSIM determines fair values of various financial assets 
and financial liabilities.

    Fair value of the UniSIM’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis

    Some of the UniSIM’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets 
and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
 

Financial 
asset/financial 
liabilities

Fair value as at ($’000) Fair Value 
Hierarchy

Valuation 
technique(s) and 

key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 

input (s)

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair 

value

2013 2012
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
1)  Forward 

foreign 
exchange 
contracts

24 - 10 - Level 2 Discounted cash 
flows.  Future 
cash flows are 

estimated based 
on forward 
exchange 

rates (from 
observable 

forward 
exchange rates 

at the end of 
the reporting 
period) and 
contracted 

forward rates, 
discounted 

at a rate that 
reflects the 
credit risk 
of various 

counterparties.

N/A N/A

Available-for-sale investments (Note 11)
2)  Quoted 

funds 
managed 
by fund 
manager

39,121 - 16,839 - Level 2 Quoted fund 
net asset values 
provided by the 
fund managers 

and banks.

N/A N/A

3)  Quoted 
preference 
shares

18,105 - 11.933 - Level 1 Quoted bid 
prices in an 

active market.

N/A N/A

4)  Quoted 
debt 
securities

- - 12,840 - Level 1 Quoted bid 
prices in an 

active market.

N/A N/A

 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy in 2012 and 2013.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

 (d) Capital risk management policies and objectives

   UniSIM reviews the capital structure at least annually to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going 
concern.  The capital structure of UniSIM comprises of funds and reserves. UniSIM’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from 2012.

5 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS

  The ultimate controlling party of UniSIM is the Singapore Institute of Management, a charity registered in Singapore.  
Singapore Institute of Management (“SIM”) and UniSIM have common trustees.  The Governing Council of Singapore 
Institute of Management may appoint, remove or replace a Trustee of UniSIM.  Accordingly, the Board of Trustees 
deemed UniSIM to be a subsidiary of Singapore Institute of Management.

 Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the parent entity’s group of companies.

  Some of UniSIM’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on the 
basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.  The inter- company balances are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 Significant intercompany transactions are as follows:

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Group Corporate Service charges paid/payable to parent entity (13,395) (12,037)
Tax deductible donations received from a related company 17,000 17,200
Diploma license fee received from a related company - 833

6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

  Related parties in these financial statements refer to entities where the trustees are key management personnel of 
these entities.

  Some of the UniSIM’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free 
and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 During the year, UniSIM entered into the following significant transactions with related parties:

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Advertising expenses     216      17

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)

 Compensation of trustees and key management personnel

 The remuneration of key management during the year was as follows:

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 4,863 5,005
Post-employment benefits    212    219

5,075 5,224

  The remuneration of key management is determined by the Compensation and Establishment Committee of UniSIM 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

 Key management comprises senior executives in the President’s Office, Deans, Directors.

 Number of key management in remuneration bands for UniSIM is shown below:

 

2013 2012

$550,001 to $600,000 1 1
$500,001 to $550,000 1 0
$450,001 to $500,000 0 1
$300,001 to $350,000 2 2
$250,001 to $300,000 4 3
$200,001 to $250,000 3 3
$150,001 to $200,000 7 10
$100,001 to $150,000 3 1
$100,000 and below   2   4

23 25

 Trustees are not remunerated for their board services.

  Related party transaction with trustees for advisory services during the year was $12,000 (2012 : $12,000).
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7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Cash at bank 18,578   14,327
Fixed deposits 134,595 105,233
Cash on hand           3          3
Total 153,176 119,563

  Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by UniSIM and short-term fixed deposits.  The carrying amounts of 
these assets approximate their fair values.

  Short-term fixed deposits bear interest at average rates ranging from 0.02% to 1.15% (2012 : 0.08% to 1.15%) per 
annum and are for a tenure of approximately 11 days to 196 days (2012 : 31 days to 366 days).

8 SUNDRY DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Diploma license fee from a related company (Note 5) -         256
Dividend receivable 216 -     
Course fee receivable 211 184
Tuition fee loans and study loans receivable 555 -     
Interest receivable 388 481
Staff loans 11 8
Ministry of Education 7,037 6,804
Others         9         17

8,427 7,750
Prepayments 2,315 2,192
Deposits 8 8
Forward foreign exchange contracts        24        10
Total 10,774   9,960

Analysed as:
 Current 10,219 9,960
 Non-current     555     -      

10,774   9,960

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013
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8 SUNDRY DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONT'D)

 UniSIM’s sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments are denominated in its functional currency.

  Tuition fee loans and study loans are awarded by the Ministry of Education ("MOE") to students who applied for 
these loans. The loan repayments will be collected from students and returned to the government within one 
month of receipt of repayments from students (Note 13). The loans receivable from students are interest-free and 
repayable within 2 years (for tuition fee loans) and 6 years (for study loans) after graduation or upon graduates 
securing employment, whichever is earlier. 

  Sundry debtors that are neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that the company has assessed to be 
creditworthy.  Accordingly, the management believes that there is no credit provision required.

 UniSIM has no sundry debtors which are past due but not impaired.

   The amount relating to forward foreign exchange contracts of approximately $24,000 (2012 : gain of $10,000) 
represents the mark-to-market gain on derivative financial instruments entered into by Singapore Institute of 
Management ("SIM") on behalf of UniSIM.

  At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts which SIM 
has committed for the purpose of hedging foreign currency risk arising from the investments in SIM and UniSIM are 
as follows:

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Buy SGD 32,298 26,517

Sell USD 25,500 21,700

9 HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Unquoted debt securities, at amortised cost:
 Current 4,000 12,023
 Non-current 10,650 14,696

14,650 26,719

  The unquoted debt securities comprise bonds issued by financial institutions and public listed companies.  As at 
December 31, 2013, the unquoted debt securities have nominal values amounting  to $14.6 million (2012 : $26.7 
million) with coupon rates ranging from 3.83% to 4.88% (2012 : 1.31% to 4.88%) per annum and maturity dates 
ranging from January 2014 to August 2017 (2012 : January 2013 to August 2017).  The average effective interest rate 
of the debt securities ranges from 1.06% to 4.88% (2012 : 1.31% to 4.88%) per annum.

MAIN REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT NEXTPREVIOUS86 / 87

ANNUAL REPORT 2013



9 HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONT'D) 
  
  All the bonds carry a fixed coupon rate.  The fair values of the securities are provided by banks employing generally 

market accepted valuation parameters and techniques.

 The unquoted debt securities have fair values amounting to $14,908,000 (2012 : $26,903,000).

 The held-to-maturity financial assets are denominated in the functional currency of UniSIM.

10 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 

Renovations

Office
equipment,

furniture
and fittings Computers

Motor
vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
 At January 1, 2012 7,641 3,919 26,540 362 38,462
 Additions 43 164 2,106 245 2,558
 Disposals    -     (216)    (268) (175)     (659)
 At December 31, 2012 7,684 3,867 28,378 432 40,361
 Additions -    34 3,106 -  3,140
 Disposals    -        -      (412)   -      (412)
 At December 31, 2013 7,684 3,901 31,072 432 43,089

Accumulated depreciation:
 At January 1, 2012 7,482 3,139 18,306 250 29,177
 Depreciation for the year 95 587 4,458 70 5,210
 Disposals    -     (216)    (268) (175)     (659)
 At December 31, 2012 7,577 3,510 22,496 145 33,728
 Depreciation for the year 53 259 4,930 86 5,328
 Disposals    -        -      (408)   -      (408)
 At December 31, 2013 7,630 3,769 27,018 231 38,648

Carrying amount:
 At December 31, 2013      54     132   4,054 201   4,441

 At December 31, 2012    107    357   5,882 287   6,633

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013
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11 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Quoted funds managed by external fund managers, at fair value 39,121 16,839
Quoted debt securities, at fair value  -      12,840
Quoted preference shares, at fair value 18,105 11,933

57,226 41,612

Analysed as: 
 Current -      12,840
 Non-current 57,226 28,772

57,226 41,612

  The investments above offer UniSIM the opportunity for return through dividend income, interest income and fair 
value gains.  They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.  The fair values of these quoted funds are determined as 
the quoted fund net asset values provided by the fund managers and banks at the last market day of the financial 
year.  The net asset values approximate the fair values as the funds comprise mainly financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and monetary assets.

  As at December 31, 2012, the quoted debt securities had nominal values amounting to $12,820,000 and bore 
interest at a rate which was linked to the development of the issuer’s Singapore dollar spot rate. Embedded within 
the quoted debt securities were call options which allowed the issuer to call on the investments upon the fulfillment 
of certain conditions. UniSIM also had a put option allowing the university to put the investment to the issuer 
upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. Management had assessed the fair values of these options to be zero 
then given that the investments would be put or called at amount close to the fair value on the date the options 
are exercised. The fair values of these quoted debt securities were provided by the financial institution employing 
generally market accepted valuation parameters and techniques. During the current financial year, the quoted debt 
securities were sold for an amount of $12,847,000.

  The fair values of the quoted preference shares are determined based on the last traded price on the Singapore 
Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting period. 

 UniSIM’s available-for-sale investments that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:
 

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

United States dollar 12,989 10,910
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12 GOVERNMENT GRANTS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

At beginning of financial year 400 463
Funds received 3,671 54
Utilised during the year (Note 22) (2,770) (117)
At end of financial year 1,301 400

13 OTHER PAYABLES

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Parent entity (Note 5) 3,094   1,982
Related company (Note 5) 1 -     
Tuition fee loans and study loans payable 238 -     
Accruals 10,932 10,330
Others   4,988   4,848

19,253 17,160

Analysed as: 
 Current 19,015 17,160
 Non-current      238     -     

19,253 17,160

  Tuition fee loans and study loans are awarded by the Ministry of Education ("MOE") to students who applied for 
these loans. The loan repayments will be collected from students and returned to the government within one 
month of receipt of repayments from students. In addition, any unutilised funds will be returned to the government 
twice a year.

 UniSIM’s other payables that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

United States dollar 52     180
Sterling pound       38       37

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

14 EDUCATION FUND

  The SIM University Education Fund is set up to establish, operate, maintain and promote SIM University as a private 
university.  The SIM University Education Fund has been conferred the Institution of a Public Character status.

 The following represents the SIM University Education Fund:

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Balance at January 1 95,648 90,017
Total comprehensive income for the year     3,807   5,631
Grant from a foundation      500      -     
Balance at December 31 99,955 95,648

Represented by:
2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Current assets
Cash at bank 3,317   1,373
Fixed deposits 66,246 41,267
Other receivables and prepayments 531 294
Forward foreign exchange contracts 24 10
Held-to-maturity financial assets 4,000   8,008
Available-for-sale investments     -       9,128

74,118 60,080

Non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments 18,827 20,773
Held-to-maturity financial assets 6,624 10,661
Property, plant and equipment   3,779   5,561

29,230 36,995

Less:  Current liability
Other payables   3,393   1,427

Net assets 99,955 95,648

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013
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15 FAIR VALUE RESERVE

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

General fund (416)     21
Education fund 4,716 2,477

4,300 2,498

Movement during the year:
At beginning of financial year 2,498 944
Arising during the year 1,809 1,554
Reclassification to profit or loss from equity on disposal of 
 available for sale investments      (7)    -    
At end of financial year 4,300 2,498

 
 The fair value reserve relates to revaluation of the available-for-sale investments.

16 ENDOWMENT FUND

  Endowment fund comprises the Social Resilience Enhancement Fund which is set up on October 11, 2013 to receive 
funds for the purpose of awarding of scholarships and faculty programme and prizes to students. 

 

Social Resilience
Enhancement  

Fund
$’000

Balance at January 1, 2013 -     
Fund received from a foundation during the year 500
Earned income received during the year 30
Transfer from education fund 500
Utilised during the year     (14)
Balance at December 31, 2013 1,016

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013
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17 OTHER RESTRICTED FUNDS

 Other restricted funds comprise the following funds:

 

Name of fund Purpose

Sponsorship awards fund Donations and sponsorships received for the purpose 
of awarding of scholarships, medals, prizes to 
deserving students.

Other funds - Spring Singapore and Economic
 Development Board

Funds received for the purpose of course development for 
Biomedical Sciences Proof of Concept Scheme and Executive 
Master in Technology Entrepreneurship and Rotman 
Design Work.

Other funds - Ministry of Culture, Republic of China Funds received for the purpose of planning, organising, 
and executing events and activities that foster cultural 
exchanges and promote Taiwan’s culture in Singapore.

 

Sponsorship
awards fund

Other
funds Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at January 1, 2012 143   29 172
Utilised during the year   (1)   -    (1)
Balance at December 31, 2012 142   29 171
Received during the year   -    58 58
Utilised during the year   (1)   (1)    (2)
Balance at December 31, 2013 141   86 227

Represented by:

Cash and cash equivalents 141   86 227
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18 OPERATING INCOME

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Course fees 89,276 83,251
Application fees 424 272
Diploma license fees (Note 5) -  833
Graduation function 86 80
Executive seminars 14 105
Other operating income      383     660

90,183 85,201

19 STAFF AND MANPOWER COSTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 27,528 25,798
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund 2,909 2,779
Other staff benefits   1,320   1,150

31,757 29,727

20 OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Administrative expenses 4,131   3,972
Group Corporate Services charges paid/payable
 to parent entity (Note 5) 13,395 12,037

17,526 16,009

21 NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURE

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Realised exchange loss on forward foreign exchange contracts 368 -  
Amortisation of held-to-maturity financial assets premium 69 164
Loss on maturity of available-for-sale investments    48 -  
Loss on maturity of held-to-maturity financial assets   -  222

485 386

22 NON-OPERATING INCOME

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Tax deductible donations received from:
 Related company (Note 5) 17,000 17,200
 Outside parties 114 123
Interest income from fixed deposits and 
 held-to-maturity financial assets 1,635 1,818
Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 14 34
Realised exchange gain on forward foreign exchange contracts -    457
Government grant income (Note 12) 2,770 117
Income from endowment fund (Note 16) 30 -     
Income from other restricted funds (Note 17) 2 1
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment -    75
Dividend income on available-for-sale investments 974 480
Other income      630      478

23,169 20,783

23 TAXATION

  With effect from Year of Assessment 2008, the requirement for charities to spend at least 80% of their annual 
receipts on charitable objects in Singapore within 2 years in order to enjoy income tax exemption has been removed.  
Consequently, Section 13M has been repealed by Section 13(1)(zm) and UniSIM’s receipts for the financial years 
ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 are exempt from income tax.

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013
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24 COMMITMENTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment 265 726

25 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an
 expense during the year 67 97

At the end of the reporting period, UniSIM has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases 
which fall due as follows:

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Future minimum lease payments payable:

Within one year 49 73
In the second to fifth years inclusive   6 55

 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by UniSIM for certain of its office equipment. Leases are   
 negotiated for the range from 2 to 5 years and rentals are fixed for an average of 2 to 5 years.

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2013
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Statement by Trustees

In the opinion of the Trustees, the financial statements as set out on pages 101 to 126 are drawn up so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of SIM University Education Fund as at December 31, 2013, and of the results, changes 
in funds and reserves and cash flows of SIM University Education Fund for the financial year ended December 31, 2013 
and at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that SIM University Education Fund will be able 
to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES

..................................................
Lim Soon Hock

..................................................
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

Date: March 11, 2014

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustees 
of SIM University Education Fund

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SIM University Education Fund (the “Fund”) which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2013, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in funds and reserves and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 101 to 126.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that gives a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the ”Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and 
for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and 
that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss account and balance sheet 
and to maintain accountability of assets.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers the internal control relevant to the Fund’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

MAIN REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT NEXTPREVIOUS98 / 99

ANNUAL REPORT 2013



Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustees 
of SIM University Education Fund

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements of the Fund are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of, the state of affairs of the Fund as at 
December 31, 2013 and of the results, changes in funds and reserves and cash flows of the Fund for the year ended on 
that date.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records have been kept by the Fund in accordance with the requirements of 
Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulation of the Charities Act, Chapter 37.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year:

(a)  The use of the donation moneys was not in accordance with the objectives of the Fund as required under regulation 
16 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and

(b)  The Fund has not complied with the requirements of regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the Charities 
(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

Date: March 11, 2014

Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2013

Note 2013 2012
$’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 69,563 42,640
Other receivables and prepayments 8 555 304
Held-to-maturity financial assets 9 4,000   8,008
Available-for-sale investments 11        -      9,128
Total current assets   74,118 60,080

Non-current assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets 9 6,624 10,661
Plant and equipment 10 3,779 5,561
Available-for-sale investments 11   18,827 20,773
Total non-current assets   29,230 36,995

Total assets 103,348 97,075

LIABILITY AND EQUITY
Current liability
Other payables 12    3,393   1,427

Funds and reserves
Fair value reserve 13 4,716 2,477
Accumulated surplus  94,223 93,171
Endowment fund 14     1,016      -     
Total funds and reserves   99,955 95,648

Total liability and equity 103,348 97,075

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2013

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

 2013 2012

Note  Education 
fund  

   Endowment 
fund    

Total Education 
fund    

  Endowment 
fund   

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Donation income 15   17,114 -   17,114 17,323 -   17,323
Other operating income 198    -    198 289 -   289
Course expenditure (2,348) (14)  (2,362) (2,044) -   (2,044)
Staff and manpower costs 16 (5,424)  -    (5,424) (5,015) -   (5,015)
Depreciation expense (4,667) -    (4,667) (4,335) -   (4,335)
Other operating expenditure 17 (3,964)  -   (3,964) (3,647) -   (3,647)
Non-operating expenditure 18 (470) -   (470) (366) -   (366)
Non-operating income 19   1,113    30   1,143   1,893    -     1,893

Net surplus for the year 1,552 16 1,568 4,098 -   4,098

Other comprehensive income

Item that may be reclassified  
subsequently to profit and  
 loss:
  Available-for-sale  
   investments

13   2,239    -     2,239   1,533    -     1,533 

Total comprehensive income  
 for the year

  3,791    16   3,807   5,631    -     5,631

Statement of Changes in Funds and Reserves
Year ended December 31, 2013

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Fair value 
reserve

    Accumulated 
surplus      

   Endowment 
fund     Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at January 1, 2012    944 89,073    -    90,017

Total comprehensive income for the year
   Profit for the year    -      4,098    -    4,098
   Other comprehensive income 1,533      -        -      1,533

   Total 1,533   4,098     -      5,631

Balance at December 31, 2012 2,477 93,171    -    95,648

Total comprehensive income for the year
   Profit for the year -    1,552      16 1,568
   Other comprehensive income 2,239      -       -     2,239
   Total 2,239   1,552      16  3,807

Grant from a foundation -    -       500 500

Transfer of funds    -       (500)    500     -     

Balance at December 31, 2013 4,716 94,223 1,016 99,955
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Cash Flow Statement
Year ended December 31, 2013

Note 2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
 Net surplus for the year 1,568 4,098
 Adjustments for:
  Depreciation expense 4,667 4335
  Interest income (814) (1,100)
  Earned income from endowment fund (30) -     
  Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments 57 -     
  Loss on maturity of held-to-maturity financial assets -     222
  Amortisation of held-to-maturity financial assets premium 45 144
  Change in fair value of forward foreign
   exchange contracts (14) (34)
  Dividend income on available-for–sale investments (247) (271)
  Management fees expense on available-for-sale 
      investments 165 146
 Surplus before movements in working capital 5,397   7,540

  Other receivables and prepayments (287) -     
  Other payables   1,966     (222)
 Cash generated from operations 7,076   7,318

 Interest received      864   1,178
Net cash from operating activities   7,940   8,496

Investing activities
 Purchase of plant and equipment (2,889) (1,752)
 Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 4 -     
 Proceeds on matured available-for-sale investments 13,135 -     
 Dividends received from available-for-sale investments 203 202
 Purchase of available-for–sale investments -     (9,116)
 Proceeds on matured held-to-maturity financial assets 8,000 38,198
 Purchase of held-to-maturity financial assets     -     (11,081)
Net cash from investing activities 18,453 16,451

Financing activities
 Earned income received from endowment fund 30 -
 Endowment fund received from a foundation 500 -
Net cash from financing activities 530 -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 26,923 24,947
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 42,640 17,693
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 69,563 42,640

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

1 GENERAL

  The SIM University Education Fund (the ”Fund”) was established on September 1, 2005 to operate, maintain and 
promote UniSIM as a private university for the advancement of education, to enlarge and improve UniSIM and to 
engage in activities relating to education, higher or tertiary education, teaching, learning, open learning, continuing 
education, research and development, knowledge development, human resource development and management, 
training, retraining and upgrading of the workforce, development of curricula and dissemination of education 
materials and research findings.

 The Trustees of the Fund at the date of this report are:

 Mr Lim Soon Hock   (Chairman)
 Professor Cham Tao Soon
 Professor Cheong Hee Kiat
 Mr Ronald Tan Hee Huan
 Mr Lam Siew Wah
 Dr. Josephine Kwa Lay Keng
 Professor Chong Chi Tat
 Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
 Mr Ramasamy Dhinakaran
 Mr Noel Hon Chia Chun

  The Fund is approved as an institution of a public character in accordance with Section 37(9) of the Income Tax Act.  
The Fund was granted tax-exempt status by Ministry of Education for another 3 year period from November 19, 
2011 to November 18, 2014.

 The Fund is registered as a charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37.

  The Fund is administered by a SIM University Education Fund Committee, at least half of whom are independent 
(unless an application for waiver of this condition is approved by the Minister), and at least half of whom are citizens 
of Singapore.  The Committee administers the Fund in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Minimum 
Operating Rules of the Fund.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

  BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis 
except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments, and are drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Charities Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (”FRS”).

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Fund takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing 
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within 
the scope of FRS 102, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17, and measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 or value in use in FRS 36.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

  In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

	 	•	 	Level	1	inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	that	the	entity	
can access at the measurement date;

 
	 	•	 	Level	2	inputs	are	inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1,	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	

liability, either directly or indirectly; and
 
	 •	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

  ADOPTION OF REVISED FINANCIAL STANDARDS - On January 1, 2013, the Fund has adopted all the new and revised 
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (”INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations.  The 
adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the Fund’s accounting policies and 
has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years except as disclosed below:

  Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

   Under the amendments to FRS 1, the Fund grouped items of other comprehensive income into two categories in 
the other comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) 
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Other than the above 
mentioned presentation change, the application of the amendments to FRS 1 does not result in any impact on profit 
or loss, other comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.

 FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

  The Fund has applied FRS 113 for the first time in the current year. FRS 113 establishes a single source of guidance for 
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The fair value measurement requirements 
of FRS 113 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial assets for which other FRSs require or 
permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share-based payment 
transactions that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the 
scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net 
realisable value for the purposes of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes).

  Other than the additional disclosures, the application of FRS 113 has not had any material impact on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs and amendments to FRS that are 
relevant to Fund have been issued but are not yet effective:

 Amendments to FRS 36   Impairment of Assets

  The management anticipate that the adoption of the above FRS, INT FRS and amendments to FRS in future period 
is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of Fund in the period of their initial adoption 
except for the following:

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D) 

 Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets 

  The amendments to FRS 36 restrict the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of an asset or cash 
generating unit (CGU) to periods in which an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed. The amendments 
also expand and clarify the disclosure requirements applicable when such asset or CGU’s recoverable amount has 
been determined on the basis of fair value less costs of disposal, such as the level of ‘fair value hierarchy’ within 
which the fair value measurement of the asset or CGU has been determined, and where the fair value measurements 
are at Level 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation techniques used and any changes in that 
valuation technique, key assumptions used including discount rate(s) used. 

  Upon adoption of the amendments to FRS 36, the Fund expects additional disclosures arising from any asset 
impairment loss or reversals, and where their respective recoverable amounts are determined based on fair value 
less costs of disposal.

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the management has considered and anticipated that the 
adoption of the above FRSs and INT FRSs in future years will not have a material impact on the financial statements 
of the Fund in the year of their initial adoption.

  ENDOWMENT FUND - Grants and donations from external sources are taken directly to the statement of funds 
and reserves in the year in which such grants and donations are received. Income and expenditure arising from the 
management of the Endowment Fund are taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Endowment 
Fund.

  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Fund’s statement of 
financial position when the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Effective interest method

  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 
interest income or expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part 
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense are recognised on an effective 
interest basis for debt instruments.

 Financial assets

  All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment 
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market 
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

  Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: ”financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss”, ”held-to-maturity”, ”available-for-sale” financial assets and ”loans and receivables”.  The classification depends 
on the nature and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

  Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as 
at FVTPL.

 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

	 •	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	near	future;	or

	 •	 	it	is	a	part	of	an	identified	portfolio	of	financial	instruments	that	the	Fund	manages	together	and	has	a	recent	
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

	 •	 it	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.

  A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

	 •	 	such	designation	eliminates	or	significantly	reduces	a	measurement	or	recognition	inconsistency	that	would	
otherwise arise; or

	 •	 	the	financial	asset	forms	part	of	a	group	of	financial	assets	or	financial	liabilities	or	both,	which	is	managed	and	
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Fund’s documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

	 •	 	it	 forms	 part	 of	 a	 contract	 containing	 one	 or	more	 embedded	 derivatives,	 and	 FRS	 39	 permits	 the	 entire	
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss.  The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset.  Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

 Held-to-maturity investments

  Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where the Fund has a positive intent and ability 
to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments.  Held-to-maturity investments are recorded 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective 
yield basis.

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 Available-for-sale financial assets

  Certain investments held by the Fund are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair value. Fair 
value is determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the 
effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly 
in profit or loss.  Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve is reclassified 
to profit or loss.  Dividends on available- for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the right 
to receive payments is established.  The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign 
currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the reporting date.  The 
change in fair value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset 
is recognised in profit or loss, and other changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.

 Sundry debtors

  Sundry debtors that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as 
”loans and receivables”.  Sundry debtors are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less impairment.  Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest 
method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. 

 Impairment of financial assets

  Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are 
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted.

  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate.

  For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent 
periods.

  The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of sundry debtors where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When 
a sundry debtor is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in profit or loss.

  With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss  decreases and  the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss, to the extent the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

  In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss, 
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013
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Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

 Derecognition of financial assets

  The Fund derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity.  If the Fund neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the Fund recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay.  If the Fund retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Fund continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for 
the proceeds received.

 Financial liabilities

 Other financial liabilities

  Other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield 
basis.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

  The Fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, its obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire.

 Derivative financial instruments

  The Fund uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign currency exchange contracts to manage its 
exposure to foreign exchange rate risk.

  Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.  The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit 
or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the 
timing of the recognition in income and expenditure statements depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.  
The Fund designates certain derivatives as hedges of fair value of recognised assets or liabilities.

  A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument 
is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.  Other derivatives are 
presented as current assets or current liabilities.

 Embedded derivatives

  Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are 
not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

  An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of 
the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months and it is not expected to 
be realised or settled within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are presented as current assets or current 
liabilities.

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

  Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line 
method, on the following bases:

 Renovations    - 25%
 Office equipment, furniture and fittings - 25%
 Computers     - 33.33%

 Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

  The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the Fund reviews the carrying amounts of its 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any).  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Fund 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs.

  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

 Non-endowed donations are recognised in the financial year they are received.

  Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable.

 DONATIONS - Donations given are charged to profit or loss when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of the Fund are presented in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).

  In preparing the financial statements of the Fund, transactions in currencies other than the Fund’s functional 
currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.  At the end of each reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of 
the reporting period.  Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date where the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are 
included in profit or loss for the period.  Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of 
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.  For 
such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and fixed deposits which are 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

  In the application of the Fund’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 (i) Critical judgements in applying the Fund’s accounting policies

   Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements except as follows:

  Classification of held-to-maturity investments

   The Fund follows the guidance of FRS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payment and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity.  This classification requires significant judgement.  In making 
this judgement, the Fund evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.  If the Fund 
fails to hold these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances, for example, selling an 
insignificant amount close to maturity, it will be required to reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale.  The 
investment would therefore be measured at fair value and no longer at amortised cost.

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT'D)

 (ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

   The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are as discussed below:

  Fair value of financial instruments

   The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques.  These techniques involve uncertainties and require assumptions and judgements regarding 
prepayments, credit risks and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions will significantly affect the 
estimated value of the financial instruments. The Fund uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions 
that are based on market conditions existing on end of the reporting period.  Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are some of the common techniques used to calculate the fair value of these 
instruments. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 respectively.

  Useful lives of plant and equipment

   Management exercises their judgment in estimating the useful lives of plant and equipment and reviews the 
useful lives at the end of each annual reporting period.  The total carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
$3,779,000 (2012 : $5,561,000).

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of financial instruments

  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

  

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 69,563 42,640
Loans and receivables 300 294
Forward foreign exchange contracts 24 10
Held-to-maturity investments 10,624 18,669
Available-for-sale financial assets 18,827 29,901

Financial liability

Other payables   3,393   1,427
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Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

 (b) Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements

    The Fund does not have any financial instruments which are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting 
arrangements or similar netting agreements.

 (c) Financial risk management policies and objectives

   Financial risk management policies and objectives are managed at the Singapore Institute of Management 
Group (”SIM Group”) level.

   SIM Group has documented financial risk management policies.  These policies set out the SIM Group’s overall 
business strategies and its risk management philosophy.  The Governing Council of SIM provides written 
principles for overall financial risk management and written policies covering specific areas, such as market 
risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess cash.  Such written policies 
are reviewed annually by the Governing Council and periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that the SIM 
Group’s policy guidelines are complied with.  Risk management is carried out by Treasury Department under 
the policies approved by the Governing Council.

   The Fund’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of 
financial performance.

   There has been no significant change to the Fund’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which 
it manages and measures the risk.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated 
below:

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management

    The Fund’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of the United 
States dollar against the Singapore dollar.

    At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of monetary assets denominated in currencies 
other than the Fund’s functional currency are as follows:

   

   Assets
2013 2012

$’000 $’000

United States dollar 12,989 10,910

   The monetary liabilities are denominated in the Fund’s functional currency.

    The Fund uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign currency risk in the 
local reporting currency.  The Treasury Department of the Fund’s parent entity is responsible for hedging 
the net position in each borrowing currency.

   

Notes to the Financial Statements
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

   Foreign currency sensitivity

    The sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk is 10%, which is the change in foreign 
exchange rate that the trustees deem reasonably possible which will affect outstanding foreign currency 
denominated monetary items at period end.

    If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of the Fund without 
considering the effect of the derivative financial instruments, which is Singapore dollar, profit or loss will 
increase (decrease) by:

   

          United States dollar impact
2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Profit or loss (1,299) (1,091)

    If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of the Fund, there 
would be an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss.

  (ii) Interest rate risk management

    The Fund is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets.  
The Fund maintains its cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity financial assets in fixed rate 
instruments and does not have any significant interest-bearing liabilities.

           All financial assets and liabilities at year end bear no interest rate except for cash, fixed deposits and held-
to-maturity financial assets.  The average interest rate on held-to- maturity financial asset is disclosed in 
Note 9.

    The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for cash and cash 
equivalent balances at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the 
beginning of the financial year.  A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents the Trustee’s assessment 
of the possible change in interest rate.

    If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Fund’s 
net surplus for the years ended December 31, 2013 would increase/decrease by approximately $0.7 
million (2012 : $0.4 million).

  (iii) Credit risk management

    The Fund is not exposed to significant credit risk as its cash, fixed deposits, available-for-sale investments 
and held-to-maturity investments are held with reputable financial institutions.

  (iv) Liquidity risk management

    The Fund maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance 
its activities.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

   Non-derivative financial assets

    The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets.  The tables below 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including 
interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Fund anticipates that the cash flow will 
occur in a different period.

   

   Fixed rate Non-interest bearing

Less than 6 
months

6 months to 
12 months

More than 
12 months

On demand 
or within 1 

year

More than 1 
year

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Cash and cash   
 equivalents 69,563    -    -    -    -    69,563
Loans and receivables -    -    -    300 -    300
Available-for-sale  
 investments - - - - 18,827 18,827
Held-to-maturity  
 financial assets 4,000 -    6,624 -    -    10,624
Total 73,563    -     6,624   300 18,827 99,314

   Fixed rate Non-interest bearing

Less than 6 
months

6 months to 
12 months

More than 
12 months

On demand 
or within 1 

year

More than 1 
year

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012

Cash and cash   
 equivalents 42,640    -    -    -    -    42,640
Loans and receivables -    -    -    294 -    294
Available-for-sale  
 investments - - - 9,128 20,773 29,901
Held-to-maturity  
 financial assets 8,008 -    10,661 -    -    18,669
Total 50,648    -    10,661   9,422 20,773 91,504
     

 

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

   Non-derivative financial liabilities

   The Fund’s financial liabilities are substantially payable in less than 6 months and interest free.

  v) Equity price risk management

    The Fund is exposed to equity price risks arising from available-for-sale investments.  Available-for-sale 
equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes.  The Fund does not trade in 
available- for-sale investments.

   Further details of these investments can be found in Note 11 to the financial statements.

   Equity price sensitivity analysis

    The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the 
reporting date. In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, if the prices had been 10% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the Fund’s fair value reserves for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 would increase/decrease by $1,883,000 (2012 : $2,990,000).

  vi) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

    Other than the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets and 
available-for-sale investments, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities reported in the 
statement of assets, liabilities, reserves and fund balances approximate their respective fair values due 
to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.  The fair value held-to-maturity 
financial assets and available-for-sale investments are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 respectively.

    This note provides information about how the Fund determines fair values of various financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

    Fair value of the Fund’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis

    Some of the Fund’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets 
and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

Financial 
asset/
financial 
liabilities

Fair value as at ($’000) Fair Value 
Hierarchy

Valuation 
technique(s) and 

key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 

input (s)

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair 

value

2013 2012
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
1)  Forward 

foreign 
exchange 
contracts

24 - 10 - Level 2 Discounted cash 
flows.  Future 
cash flows are 

estimated based 
on forward 

exchange rates 
(from observable 
forward exchange 

rates at the end 
of the reporting 

period) and 
contracted 

forward rates, 
discounted 

at a rate that 
reflects the credit 

risk of various 
counterparties.

N/A N/A

Available-for-sale investments (Note 11)

2)  Quoted 
funds 
managed 
by fund 
manager

18,827  - 16,579 - Level 2 Quoted fund 
net asset values 
provided by the 
fund managers 

and banks.

N/A N/A

3)  Quoted 
preference 
shares

- - 4,194 - Level 1 Quoted bid prices 
in an active 

market.

N/A N/A

4)  Quoted 
debt 
securities

- - 9,128 - Level 1 Quoted bid prices 
in an active 

market.

N/A N/A

   The Fund has no financial liabilities carried at fair value in 2013.

   There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy in 2012 and 2013.

 (d) Capital risk management policies and objectives

   The Fund reviews the capital structure at least annually to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going 
concern.  The capital structure of the Fund comprises of funds and reserves.  The Fund's overall strategy 
remains unchanged from 2012.

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013

5 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS

  The immediate and ultimate controlling parties of the Fund are SIM University and Singapore Institute of Management, 
both charities registered in Singapore.  Singapore Institute of Management (”SIM”) and SIM University (”UniSIM”) 
have common trustees.  The Governing Council of Singapore Institute of Management may appoint, remove or 
replace a Trustee of UniSIM. Accordingly, the Board of Trustees deemed UniSIM to be a subsidiary of Singapore 
Institute of Management.

 Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of SIM’s group of companies.

  Some of the Fund’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on 
the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.  The inter-company balances 
and transactions are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 Significant intercompany transactions are as follows:

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Group Corporate Service charges paid/payable to SIM (1,289) (1,284)
Tax deductible donations received from a related company 17,000 17,200

 6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 Some of the Fund’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis  
 determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.

 Compensation of trustees and key management personnel

 The remuneration of key management during the year was as follows:

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 588 936
Post-employment benefits   29   46

617 982
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6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)

  The remuneration of key management is determined by the Compensation and Establishment Committee of UniSIM 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

 Key management comprises senior executives in the President’s Office, Deans, Directors.

 Number of key management in remuneration bands for Fund is shown below:

 

2013 2012

$550,001 to $600,000 0 0
$500,001 to $550,000 0 0
$450,001 to $500,000 0 0
$300,001 to $350,000 0 0
$250,001 to $300,000 0 0
$200,001 to $250,000 0 1
$150,001 to $200,000 2 3
$100,001 to $150,000 2 1
$100,000 and below   0   1

  4   6

 Trustees are not remunerated for their board services.

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Cash at bank 3,317 1,373
Fixed deposits 66,246 41,267

69,563 42,640

  Fixed deposits bear interest at average rates ranging from 0.32% to 1.15% (2012 : 0.50% to 1.15%) per annum and are 
for a tenure of approximately 11 to 193 days (2012 : 14 to 192 days).

8 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Other receivables 56 -     
Interest receivables 244 294
Prepayments 231 -     
Forward foreign exchange contracts       24       10

    555     304

  In 2013, the amount relating to forward foreign exchange contracts of approximately $24,000 (2012 : $10,000) 
represents the mark-to-market gain on derivative financial instruments entered into by Singapore Institute of 
Management (”SIM”) on behalf of the Fund.

  At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts which SIM 
has committed for the purpose of hedging foreign currency risk arising from the investments in SIM and the Fund 
are as follows:

 
2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Buy SGD 32,298 26,517

Sell USD 25,500 21,700

 

9 HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Unquoted debt securities, at amortised cost:
   Current 4,000 8,008
   Non-current   6,624 10,661

10,624 18,669

  The unquoted debt securities comprise bonds issued by financial institutions and public listed companies.  As at 
December 31, 2013, the unquoted debt securities have nominal values amounting to $10.6 million (2012 : $18.7 
million) with coupon rates ranging from 3.83% to 4.88% (2012 : 1.31 % to 4.88%) per annum and maturity dates 
ranging from January 2014 to August 2017 (2012 : February 2013 to August 2017).  The average effective interest 
rate of the debt securities ranges from 1.06% to 4.88% (2012 : 1.31% to 4.88%) per annum.

Notes to the Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013
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9 HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONT'D)

  All the bonds carry a fixed coupon rate.  The fair values of the securities are provided by banks employing generally 
market accepted valuation parameters and techniques.

 The unquoted debt securities have fair values amounting to $10,783,000 (2012 : $18,828,000).

 The held-to-maturity financial assets are denominated in the functional currency of the Fund.

10 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 

Renovations

Office
equipment,

furniture
and fittings Computers Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
   At January 1, 2012 7,268 790 18,690 26,748
   Additions 42 51 1,659 1,752
   Disposals    -      -       (50)      (50)
   At December 31, 2012 7,310 841 20,299 28,450
   Additions    -    12 2,877 2,889
   Disposals    -      -         (7)        (7)
   At December 31, 2013 7,310 853 23,169 31,332

 

Renovations

Office
equipment,

furniture
and fittings Computers Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accumulated depreciation:
   At January 1, 2012 7,109 751 10,744 18,604
   Depreciation for the year 95 47 4,193 4,335
   Disposals    -      -       (50)      (50)
   At December 31, 2012 7,204 798 14,887 22,889
   Depreciation for the year 53 16 4,598 4,667
   Disposals    -      -         (3)        (3)
   At December 31, 2013 7,257 814 19,482 27,553

Carrying amount:
   At December 31, 2013      53   39   3,687   3,779

   At December 31, 2012    106   43   5,412   5,561

11 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Quoted funds managed by external fund managers, at fair value 18,827 16,579
Quoted debt securities, at fair value  -     9,128
Quoted preference shares, at fair value    -       4,194

18,827 29,901

Analysed as:
 Current -     9,128
 Non-current 18,827 20,773

18,827 29,901

  The investments above offer the Fund the opportunity for return through dividend income, interest income and fair 
value gains.  They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.  The fair values of these quoted funds are determined as 
the quoted fund net asset values provided by the fund managers and banks at the last market day of the financial 
year.  The net asset values approximate the fair values as the funds comprise mainly financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and monetary assets.

  As at December 31, 2012, the quoted debt securities had nominal values amounting to $12,820,000 and bore 
interest at a rate which was linked to the development of the issuer’s Singapore dollar spot rate. Embedded within 
the quoted debt securities were call options which allowed the issuer to call on the investments upon the fulfillment 
of certain conditions. UniSIM also had a put option allowing the university to put the investment to the issuer 
upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. Management had assessed the fair values of these options to be zero 
then given that the investments would be put or called at amount close to the fair value on the date the options 
are exercised. The fair values of these quoted debt securities were provided by the financial institution employing 
generally market accepted valuation parameters and techniques. During the current financial year, the quoted debt 
securities were sold for an amount of $12,847,000.

  The fair values of the quoted preference shares are determined based on the last traded price on the Singapore 
Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting period.

 The available-for-sale investments that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

United States dollar 12,989 10,910

Notes to the Financial Statements
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12 OTHER PAYABLES

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Parent entity (Note 5) 1,008    -    
Accruals 1,954 1,427
Others    431    -    

3,393 1,427

13 FAIR VALUE RESERVE

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

At beginning of financial year 2,477 944
Arising during the year 2,246 1,533
Reclassification to profit or loss from equity on
   disposal of available for sale investments      (7)    -    
At end of financial year 4,716 2,477

  The fair value reserve relates to revaluation of the available-for-sale investments.  As these investments are funded 
by the Fund, the fair value reserve forms part of the Fund.

14 ENDOWMENT FUND

  Endowment fund comprises the Social Resilience Enhancement Fund which is set up on October 11, 2013 to receive 
funds for the purpose of awarding of scholarships and faculty programme and prizes to students. 

 

Social Resilience
Enhancement

        Fund       
$’000

Balance at January 1, 2013 -     
Fund received from a foundation during the year 500
Earned income received during the year 30
Transfer from education fund 500
Utilised during the year     (14)
Balance at December 31, 2013 1,016

15 DONATION INCOME

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Tax deductible donations received from:
   Related company (Note 5) 17,000 17,200
   Outside parties     114     123

17,114 17,323

16 STAFF AND MANPOWER COSTS

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 4,636 4,272
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund 569 532
Other staff benefits    219    211

5,424 5,015

17 OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Group Corporate service charges (Note 5) 1,289 1,284
Repairs and maintenance expense 2,267 2,015
Other administrative expenses    408    348

3,964 3,647
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18 NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURE

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Realised exchange loss on forward foreign exchange contracts 368   -  
Amortisation of held-to-maturity financial assets premium 45 144
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments 57   -  
Loss on maturity of held-to-maturity financial assets   -  222

470 366

19 NON-OPERATING INCOME

 

2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Interest income from fixed deposits and
   held-to-maturity financial assets 814 1,100
Dividend income on available-for-sale investments 247 271
Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 14 34
Income from endowment fund (Note 14) 30 -     
Other income      38    488

1,143 1,893

Notes to the Financial Statements
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